






























































































































Fiscal Year 2017
First Quarter Financial Report


BART Board of Directors
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Ridership Under Budget YTD
• Ridership & Passenger Revenue Under Budget 


• Passenger revenue $5.4M below budget through Sept. 


• Total ridership 6% under budget through Oct.
• Core 5.5% under budget
• SFO 9.6% below budget, but does not impact operating result 
• Average weekday ridership 3.7% under budget


• Ridership Decline
• Total ridership down 1.3% from FY16 YTD Sept.


• Avg. weekday ridership down 0.8% from FY16 YTD Oct.


• FY16 actual annual growth was 2.4% 


• FY17 budget assumed 2.3% annual growth, but FY16 
actual ridership finished below forecast
• 3% is needed to hit FY17 total ridership budget, 2.8% to make 
the average weekday ridership budget


• Weekend Ridership Declining
• Excluding weekend closures, weekend ridership down 


8.4% from FY16


• Total (including closures) down 10.8% from FY16 1


Budget Actual Variance
Total 45,752,066 42,988,394 ‐6.0%
Avg. Weekday 450,190 433,550 ‐3.7%


October YTD Budget


Oct 2015 Oct 2016 Growth
Avg. Weekday 436,969 433,550 ‐0.8%


October YTD Growth







Ridership Trend


• Ridership had been growing at a 
high rate as recently as last spring


• Rate of growth rapidly slowed


• FY17 – past three months have 
declined compared to last year
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2016
Average 
Weekday


Growth over 
Prior Year


FY16
January 422,314 2.8%
February 446,650 6.1%
March 431,535 5.6%
April 434,735 1.1%
May 432,707 2.0%
June 435,793 0.7%


FY17
July 428,203 0.2%
Aug 427,453 ‐0.5%
Sep 440,604 ‐1.0%
Oct 438,502 ‐1.7%







Sales Tax


• Sales Tax growth also slowing, but 
not as consistently or dramatically 
as ridership


• FY17 Budget projection was for 
3.4% growth


• First quarter sales tax $0.6M (0.9%) 
under budget
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Sales Tax $M Total
Growth over 
Prior Year


FY14 221.4$   6.0%
FY15 233.1      5.4%


FY16 Q1 60.2        3.5%
FY16 Q2 61.6        2.9%
FY16 Q3 61.5        2.6%
FY16 Q4 58.2        5.5%
FY16 241.5      3.6%


FY17 Q1 61.6        2.2%







YTD Results $3.6M Unfavorable
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FY17 Operating Results ‐ First Quarter ($ million)*


Budget Actual Var. %
Sources Operating Revenue 147.0$        141.5$   (5.6)    ‐3.8%


Sales Tax 62.1            61.6       (.6)      ‐0.9%
Other Assistance 2.7              2.8         0.1     ‐4.8%


Total Sources 211.9          205.8     (6.0)    ‐2.9%


Uses Labor  125.5          124.0     1.5     1.2%
Non‐Labor 44.0           44.4     (.4)    ‐0.9%


Total Expense 169.5         168.3   1.1   0.7%


Debt Service 12.9            12.3       .6       4.6%
Capital & Other Allocations 36.5            35.8       .7       1.9%


Total Debt Service & Allocations 49.4            48.1       1.3     2.6%
Total Uses 218.9          216.5     2.4     1.1%


Net Result (7.0)             (10.7)      (3.6)   


*Note:  For clarity, the above table excludes  the MTC Rail  Car Fund Swap revenue and extraordinary 
expense and the Other Post Employment Benefit (OPEB) Unfunded Liabil ity, which do not impact the 
Net Result.  







Operating Expense


• FY16 Expense Budget Results – Small Variances
• Over Budget by $2.7M (‐0.4%)


• Labor $1.1M unfavorable (‐0.2%)
• Non‐Labor $1.6M unfavorable (‐0.9%)


• FY17 Expense YTD Slightly Favorable
• Under Budget by $1.1M (0.7%)


• Labor $1.5M favorable (1.2%)
• Non Labor $0.4M unfavorable (0.9%)


• Same Trend Likely to Continue for FY17
• Maintenance demands in Operations – M&E, Rolling Stock & Shops
• Overtime, while offset by vacant positions savings, continues to put 


pressure on operating budget
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•With Revenue Shortfall Probability High, Will 
Need to Reduce Expenses
•Some of the potential solutions include


• Selective hiring freeze
• Manage labor expenses
• 10% reduction in Professional & Technical Fees
• Alternative sources for capital allocations
• Revenue enhancements


Potential Solutions
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Legal Framework:  Why Are We Here?


• Richmond v. Croson, U.S. Supreme Court, 1989--


• Western States Paving v. Washington DOT, 9th Circuit, 
2005


• Proposition 209, California Constitution, Article I, §
31(a), 1997


• Texas Dept. of Housing and Community Affairs v. The 
Inclusive Communities Project, Inc., U.S. Supreme Court, 
2015 
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M³ Consulting 10 Part Methodology for 
BART Disparity Study
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Industry 
Analysis


1. Legal 
Analysis


2. Procurement  and DBE/MWBE/SB 
Program Operational Analysis 


Statistical 
Analysis


3. Relevant Market
4.Availability 


Analysis
5. Utilization 


Analysis
6. Disparity 


Ratios
7. Regression and 
Capacity Analysis


Market 
Analysis


8. Anecdotal and 
Survey Analysis


9. Race-Gender Neutral 
Analysis


10. Private Sector 
Analysis


Conclusions Finding of discrimination, passive or 
active, if any


Identification of barriers to 
DBE/MWBE/SB participation


Recommendations Race conscious and race neutral 
recommendations


Post study support and 
implementation


10 Part Methodology Leads To







Relevant Market Determination, FY 2011-2014
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Procurement Type Relevant Market


Architecture & Engineering
San Francisco-Oakland-Hayward MSA
5 counties:  Alameda, San Francisco, Contra Costa, Marin, San 


Mateo; This MSA is a subset of the San Francisco Bay Area


Construction
San Francisco Bay Area
9 counties:  Alameda, San Francisco, Contra Costa, Marin, San 


Mateo, Solano, Napa, Santa Clara, Sonoma


Professional Services State of California


Other Services State of California


Procurement Nationwide


12/1/2016







BART Level 3 RWA SM Availability 
(by Relevant Market and Percent, FY 2011-2014)
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Race/Ethnicity/ 
Gender


A&E


MSA


Construction


Bay Area


Professional 
Service


State


Other Services


State


Procurement


Nationwide


% % % % %


African American 7.65 4.86 3.96 3.78 0.84 


Asian American 10.29 6.48 2.42 0.69 0.84 


Hispanic American 3.96 6.85 2.42 1.37 0.59 


Other MBE 0.53 0.25 0.00 0.00 0.00 


Total MBE 22.43 18.43 8.81 5.84 2.26 


Caucasian Female 7.39 4.48 3.08 1.37 0.67 


Total MWDBE 29.82 22.91 11.89 7.22 2.93 


Non-MWDBE 62.27 67.25 82.60 83.51 93.63 


D&B MWBE* 7.92 9.84 5.51 9.28 3.43 
Total Count of Firms 379 firms 803 firms 454 firms 291 firms 1,194 firms


12/1/2016


*Potential MWBEs in the Dun & Bradstreet Database







BART Utilization Summary
(by Relevant Market and Percent, FY 2011-2014)


© 2016 MILLER3 CONSULTING, INC. 6


Race/Ethnicity/ Gender
A&E


On-Call Payments


Construction


Contract Awards


Professional 
Service


Purchase Orders


Other Services


Purchase Orders


Procurement


Purchase Orders


% % % % %


African American 7.39 3.11 12.37 1.80 0.23


Asian American 23.45 3.65 0.19 1.14 0.29


Hispanic American 3.68 4.62 0.37 3.60 0.81


Total MBE 32.22 11.38 12.93 6.54 1.33


Caucasian Female 2.51 2.02 0.54 0.12 0.03


Total MWDBE 34.73 13.39 13.47 6.65 1.36


Non-MWDBE 60.79 75.23 84.17 77.58 97.30


D&B MWBE* 4.48 11.38 2.36 15.77 1.35


Total Dollars 94,262,734 491,596,120 66,669,437 17,897,668 327,693,386 


12/1/2016


*Potential MWBEs in the Dun & Bradstreet Database







BART Disparity Findings
(by Relevant Market and Percent, FY 2011-2014)
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Race/Ethnicity/ Gender
A&E


(On-call Payments)


Construction


(Contract Awards)


Professional 
Service


(POs)


Other Services


(POs)


Procurement


(POs)


Ratio Sign. Ratio Sign. Ratio Sign. Ratio Sign. Ratio Sign.


African American 0.97 S 0.64 S 3.12 S 0.48 S 0.27 S


Asian American 2.27 S 0.56 S 0.08 S 1.65 S 0.35 S


Hispanic American 0.35 S 0.67 S 0.15 S 2.63 S 1.37 S


Total MBE 1.43 S 0.62 S 1.47 S 1.12 S 0.59 S


Caucasian Female 0.33 S 0.45 S 0.18 S 0.09 S 0.04 S


Total MWDBE 1.16 S 0.58 S 1.13 S 0.92 S 0.46 S


Non-MWDBE 0.98 S 1.12 S 1.02 S 0.93 S 1.04 S


D&B MWBE* 0.55 S 1.16 S 0.43 S 1.70 S 0.39 S


12/1/2016


*Potential MWBEs in the Dun & Bradstreet Database


S = Statistically significant


1 = Parity







Comments from 67 Anecdotal Interviews 
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Reduce contract size and preference for large firms


Reduce insurance and bonding requirements


Subcontractors listed on bids, but not utilized once contract awarded; subcontractor bonds required 
after contract award; unfair scope changes post award; derogatory comments and attitudes


Recession and Proposition 209 forced closure of many firms; no full recovery in part due to lack of 
interest from younger generation in construction industry


Inability to obtain financing impacting by recession, bad decisions and generational poverty, along 
with predatory lending practices and poor prime contractor payment practices


SMWDBEs had lack of access to decision makers


12/1/2016







Inference of Discrimination Based on Disparity 
Ratios – Basis for Race/Gender-Conscious Goals
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Overall Federal Non Federal


A&E


 African Americans


 Hispanic Americans


 Caucasian Females


 Asian Americans


 Hispanic Americans


 Caucasian Females


 African Americans


 Hispanic Americans


 Caucasian Females


Construction


 African Americans


 Asian Americans


 Hispanic Americans


 Caucasian Females


 African Americans


 Hispanic Americans


 Caucasian Females


 African Americans


 Asian Americans


 Hispanic Americans


 Caucasian Females


Professional Services


 Asian Americans


 Hispanic Americans


 Caucasian Females


 Asian Americans


 Hispanic Americans


 Caucasian Females


 Asian Americans


 Hispanic Americans


 Caucasian Females


Other Services
 African Americans


 Caucasian Females


 African Americans


 Caucasian Females


 Hispanic Americans


 Caucasian Females


Procurement


 African Americans


 Asian Americans


 Caucasian Females


 African Americans


 Asian Americans


 Caucasian Females


 African Americans


 Asian Americans


 Hispanic Americans


 Caucasian Females







BART Organizational Recommendations


• BART enjoys forward looking leadership and a mission that matters


• Change inclusion focus from programmatic to organizational focus


• Identify BART’s inclusive procurement objectives 


• Connect BART’s inclusive procurement objectives, strategies, tactics and tasks to BART 
strategic mission


12/1/2016 © 2016 MILLER3 CONSULTING, INC. 10


From 2008 Strategic Mission


Provide safe, clean, reliable and customer-friendly regional public transit service that increases mobility and accessibility, 


strengthens community and economic prosperity and helps preserve the Bay Area’s environment. 


From 2015 Strategic Mission--“Leadership and Partnership in the Region”:


• Economy—Contribute to the region’s global competitiveness and create economic opportunities.


• Equity—Provide equitable delivery of transit service, policies, and programs.


• Environment—Advance regional sustainability and public health outcomes.







BART Organizational Recommendations
• Recognize that planning and procurement are often the first steps in 


actualizing the Board’s Strategic Mission, particularly as it relates to 
community economic development


• Determine procurement operational structure that ensures reporting 
to the Board of Directors and General Manager on:
• Manner in which procurement spend has met the strategic mission and policy 


objectives established by the Board of Directors and General Manager


• Targets and goals met by the entire organization


• Procurement techniques and contracting vehicles that best meets the mission and 
objectives established by the Board of Directors and General Manager.


The Office of Civil Rights is the Advocate; OCR does not make the “Buy 
Decision” and thus, cannot be solely accountable to the Board for the 
organization’s performance on inclusive procurement.
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BART Organizational Recommendations


• Promote greater transparency and accountability in procurement 
and post-award contract activity:


• Develop fully integrated data systems that address procurement, 
project management, OCR and accounts payable requirements


• Review procurement methods and contract vehicles utilized to 
ensure transparency and accountability on decision-making pre- and 
post-award


• Ensure that decision-making within BART can be monitored, using 
an EEO Applicant Flow model equivalent
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BART Organizational Recommendations
• Encourage DBE, SBE, and MWBE participation:


• Promote participation at the prime contracting level


• Maximize utilization of Small Business goals and Sheltered Market 
opportunities


• Develop effective outreach, matchmaking and technical assistance 
programs


• In ensuring BART is not a “passive participant” in marketplace 
discrimination, maximize utilization of 


• Public Contract Code 4100-4114, “Subletting and Subcontracting 
Fair Practices Act” governing public works


12/1/2016 © 2016 MILLER3 CONSULTING, INC. 13
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Transbay Tube 


Internal Retrofit


December 1, 2016







 Transbay Tube Background


 Contract Bid and Award


 Retrofit Work Window


 Ridership Profile


 Potential 2018 Early AM Service Mitigation Concepts


 Next Steps


Overview
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Transbay Tube Background


Low points at PS #3 and #4


3.6 miles


• Tube constructed in 1969, opened in 1974.


• Reinforced concrete liner with outer steel shell.


• Seismic joints at each end.


SF OAK
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Transbay Tube Retrofit


• The Tube is structurally sound (i.e. will not collapse).


• In a large, very rare earthquake event (>500 year return 


period), the outer steel shell and concrete liner will crack, 


causing leakage.


• Predicted leakage far exceeds current Tube pumping capacity.


• Leakage will eventually fill the Tube, making evacuation 


impossible.


• First priority is to slow leakage enough to allow for 


evacuation; secondary objective is to reduce leakage enough 


to allow for subsequent repair activities.
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Retrofit Approaches


1. Install interior tunnel liner to reduce leakage.  (Preferred method.)


2. Upgrade pumping system to remove excess water.  (Less 


expensive than tunnel liner; requires upgrades to electrical power 


and piping systems.)


3. Combination of liner and pumping increase.  Maximize pumping 


system size, then install liner to reduce leakage.


4. Computer model used to optimize location of liners to highest 


leakage risk sections.
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Tube Profile


BASE BID PLUS ALL ADDITIVE BID ITEMS6


BASE BID
SF OAKMore


Retrofit


Less


Leakage


BEST


GOOD 


BEST


GOOD 







Type I Retrofit:


Full Bores and 


Galleries


Type II Retrofit:


Full Bores


Retrofit Types
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Base Bid +Additive 1 +Additive 2 +Additive 3 +Additive 4 +Additive 5


Type 1 Retrofits: 8 11 12 13 15 15


Type 2 Retrofits: 4 1 1 1 0 1


TOTAL Tubes 


Retrofitted: 
12 12 13 14 15 16


BEST


GOOD







Inflow at 1,000 Year EQ-
Additive alternatives reduce the level of leakage inflow
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4,200gpm 


Pumping 


Capacity 2,700gpm 


Pumping 


Capacity


Pump Station 3 Pump Station 4







Contract Bid Results


Contract:  09AU-120, BART Earthquake Safety Program TBT Internal Retrofit


Duration:  1,800 Days (Base Bid) – 4 Years, 11 Months (2.2 years in Tube)


1,950 Days (Additive 5) – 5 Years, 4 Months (2.5 years in Tube)


Contractor: Shimmick/CEC JV


Additive Bid Cost Cumulative           Engr. Estimate Engr. Estimate


Bid Cost (Cumulative)


Base $267,083,110 $229,300,000


1 $  9,200,000 $276,283,110 $16,878,700 $246,178,700


2 $  9,600,000 $285,883,110 $18,009,500             $264,185,200


3 $10,000,000 $295,883,110          $20,106,700             $284,291,900


4 $12,500,000 $308,383,110 $23,655,800             $307,947,700


5 $  5,200,000 $313,583,110 $  9,867,700             $317,815,400


• Additives can be converted to options upon the base contract award.
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MBE/WBE Participation: MBE:  33.3%   WBE:  0% (One WBE, acting as broker.) 


Funding:    Earthquake Safety Program G.O. Bonds. We have funding to award Base only.







Retrofit Work Window
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Work Hours Starting July 2018


• Work to be performed at night, Sunday through Thursday; 


and mornings, Monday through Friday.  Due to short 


available work windows, BART has granted extended work 


time for up to 2.5 years beginning in July 2018.


• Begin work at approximately 9:30 pm on Sunday through 


Thursday evenings.  BART service in the Transbay Tube 


single-tracked from 9:30 until closing; headways increase 


from 20 minutes to 24 minutes.


• End work window at 5:05 am on weekdays.  BART service 


on entire system resumes at 5:05 am (4:05 current opening 


time).
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Work Windows and Travel Time


• 20% increase in working time from opening 1 hour later.


• 6 hour window (lower bar) is included in current contract.


<8:30 pm < 10 pm <midnite < 2 am < 4 am


<9:30 pm < 11 pm < 1 am < 3 am < 5 am


WORKING TIME = 5 HOURS MAX


Single-Tracking with Existing Non-Revenue Hours (4 a.m. opening)


WORKING TIME = 6 HOURS MAX


Single-Tracking with Extended Non-Revenue Hours  = Existing + 1  Extra Hour = 5 a.m. opening


TRAVEL 


TO OKS


TRAVEL TO 


TBT


TRAVEL TO 


TBT


TRAVEL 


AND 


SETUP


TRAVEL 


AND 


SETUP


TAKE 


DOWN & 


TRAVEL


TAKE 


DOWN & 


TRAVEL


TRAVEL 


TO OKS
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Benefits of Extra Work Hour


• Construction cost savings of nearly $15 million due to greater 


labor and equipment efficiency.


• Construction duration shortened by about 4 months.


• 50% to 60% increase in wrench-time work for State of Good 


Repair improvements to track, traction power, train control, and 


tunnels. 


• More time for track inspections and preventative maintenance.
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Ridership Profile
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Entries before 4:45 AM 


• 2,600 Passengers entering the system during the 1st hour (3:45am - 4:45am). 


• 8,400 Passengers entering the system during the 2nd hour (4:45am - 5:45am).
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Top 12 Destination Stations during 1st hour: (84% of Total)


1. Pittsburg/Bay Point (450)


2. Dublin/Pleasanton (195)


3. El Cerrito del Norte (189)


4. Concord (120)


5. Pleasant Hill (112)


6. North Concord (104)


7. Richmond (83)


8. Walnut Creek (79)


9. Bay Fair (67)


10. Balboa Park (67)


11. Daly City (67)


12. Fremont (65)


Top 12 Origin Stations during 1st hour: (60% of Total)


1. Embarcadero (761)


2. Montgomery (557)


3. Powell (324)


4. Civic Center (194)


5. 12th Street (80)


6. 19th Street (54)


7. 16th Street (53)


8. 24th Street (45)


9. Fremont (38)


10. Oakland Airport (36)


11. Mac Arthur (34)


12. Union City (31)







Ridership Demographics


1st Hour All Day


Minority 66% 56%


Non-minority 34% 44%


Total 100% 100%


Minority and Non-Minority Ridership 


1st Hour All Day


Low-Income* 37% 26%


Non-Low-Income 63% 74%


Total 100% 100%


Low-Income and Non-Low-Income Ridership 


*Low-income riders defined 


as under $50K.


2015 Station Profile Study16







Title VI Implications


• Project’s early AM service plan does not require FTA Title VI 


Service Equity Analysis. Does not meet the Major Service Change 


threshold of 25% change in service hours. 


• To ensure a more thorough understanding of the Title VI 


implications Staff recommends conducting an analysis of the Title 


VI impacts of the project’s early AM service plan.


• The analysis will evaluate the impacts of the proposed plan to 


determine if there is an impact on minority and low-income 


populations.


• Who is impacted (% minority and % low-income)


• What are the impacts 


• Proposed mitigation 


• Outreach (survey, translated materials, station outreach) 17







Potential 2018 Early AM 


Service Mitigation Concepts
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Potential Early AM 


Mitigation Concepts


1. No Mitigation


2. No BART Rail Service + Multi Station Express Buses


3. Minimal Regional Train Service + Extensive Single Tracking


4. Shuttle Train Service + Three (3) Station Express Buses


5. Shuttle Train Service + One (1) Station Express Bus


19


• Cost of mitigation concepts will be included in the analysis 


of Title VI impacts.







2018 Service Planning Assumptions


New BART Cars


Silicon Valley Berryessa 


Extension
Antioch (eBART) Extension


New Transbay Bus 


Terminal
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No Rail Service + 


Multi Station Express Bus


Pros:


1. Rail system is shutdown 


until 5 AM allowing for 


largest gain in 


maintenance capacity


2. Potential to leverage and 


expand late night bus 


using new early AM buses


Cons:


1. Express bus vehicle need 


and costs are likely 


highest due to ridership 


and distance of bus runs


2. Need high frequency 


express bus from East 


Contra Costa to serve 


about 500+ riders


Options: 


 Direct express bus to SF Transbay Terminal from high ridership suburban nodes with enhanced existing late 


night bus in early AM in corridors served by AC Transit, Muni and SamTrans. 
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Description:


▪30 minute service from Antioch to SFO/Millbrae, Richmond to Berryessa, Dublin/Pleasanton to Bay Fair with 


MacArthur transfer
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Pros:


1. Eliminates all bus needs


2. Similar service pattern to 


BART’s schedule at the end of 


the night


3. 30 minute headways support 


some additional single-


tracking systemwide but with 


additional risk to AM commute


Cons:


1. Poses high risk to AM 


commute due to single 


tracking plus comingled 


operation with slow moving 


work train and 2-route 


service in Oakland


2. Least core system benefit for 


additional maintenance


3. Lose 1 hour additional SOGR 


work window


Minimal Regional Train Service +


Extensive Single Tracking







Shuttle Train Service + 


Three (3) Station Express Buses


Pros:


1. Maximum benefit for 


extended maintenance 


on high traffic, access 


constrained, core 


system in Oak and SF


2. Stable train operation 


with low risk to AM 


commute  due to short 


trips and peak direction 


focus


3. Supports single tracking 


if desired


Cons:


1. Need high capacity bus to 


SF/Transbay from 3 


stations


2. Serves peak direction of 


travel only


Description: 


30 minute service from Richmond, Berryessa, Dublin/Pleasanton with transfer to Transbay bus at Bay Fair 


or MacArthur


30 minute service from Millbrae/SFO to Daly City with transfer to enhanced Muni late night bus


Run all trains out-of-service to their origin terminal from bus transfer to reduce risk to AM commute
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Shuttle Train Service + 


One (1) Station Express Bus


Pros:


1. Minimizes bus need and focuses 


scarce resources on service 


proven corridor


2. Gives work train adequate 


window to return to Oakland 


Shop from Tube


3. Some additional maintenance 


capacity is gained early AM in 


Tube (similar to M15 shutdown)


Cons:


1. Need robust bus Transbay with 


streetside staff support at 19th


Street


2. Allows for less additional 


maintenance overnight


3. Lose 1 hour additional work 


window; 4:05 opening for rest of 


the system


Description: 


30 minute service from Richmond to Berryessa, Antioch to 19th Street, Dublin/Pleasanton to Bay Fair and 


SFO/Millbrae to Montgomery


Operate high capacity/frequency bus Bridge from 19th Street to Transbay Terminal (similar to M15 closure)
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Preliminary Early AM Mitigation 


Concepts


Early AM Mitigation Concepts
Impact on


Net O&M


Costs


Impact on 


Peak  


Service


Impact on 


SOGR 


work


Impact on


Customer 


Travel


Time


Impact on


Title VI


Market 


Coverage


1 No Mitigation     


2
No Rail Service + Multi Station 


Express Bus     


3
Minimal Regional Train Service 


+ Extensive Single Tracking     


4
Shuttle Train Service + Three (3) 


Station Express Buses    


5
Shuttle Train Service + One (1) 


Station Express Bus     
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Next Steps


• Finalize mitigation concepts.


• Determine cost for mitigation concepts.


• Develop draft outreach plan and timeline.


• Conduct analysis of operations and Title VI impacts.


• Return to Board with Staff recommended mitigation plan.


26








Short-Term System Capacity 
Improvements, Next Steps


Board of Directors
December 1, 2016
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Background


• Increased ridership during commute 
periods has led to high levels of 
crowding, complaints, and decreased 
customer satisfaction


• Many customers have been unable to 
board trains or experience crush load 
conditions


• BART subsequently tested three new 
seating configurations in 2016 to try to 
open up more space to accommodate 
the heavy demand


• Total of 60 cars in the test – 20 of each 
type


• Survey conducted to obtain customer 
feedback
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Seating Configurations Tested


2







Survey


Analysis based on respondents taking survey after May 25 (i.e. when all 60 cars were in service).  n>6,300.  Data weighted by gender based on 
2014 Customer Satisfaction Survey and seat reconfiguration type.
BART Marketing & Research Department
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Survey Results For Each Configuration


32% 35% 34%


14%
26%


17%


54%
38%


49%


7 single seats, one side
n=2,340


4 rows x 2 seats, from middle
n=1,795


4 rows x 2 seats, near door
n=2,100


Q: How did your ride on the test train car compare to your ride on 
a typical BART train car?


Better


About the same


Worse


1st car type 2nd car type 3rd car type


Seats removed 







Survey Results For Each Configuration


81%
76%


70%


55%


72%


56% 58%
49%


83%
76%


67%


49%


Amount of standing
room


Ease of getting on
and off the train


Handholds for
standing passengers


Quantity of seats


Q: Specifically, how would you rate the following on the test train car? 
(Excellent+Good Rating shown)


7 single seats, one
side (n = 2,291)


4 rows x 2 seats,
from middle (n =
1,769)


4 rows x 2 seats,
near door (n = 2,047) 1
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Verbatim comments


Riders seem to least like the cars with middle seats removed (“2nd car type”). Only 38% gave this car type a “Better” rating.
• “Still has bottleneck between the center of the car and doors. People just don't want to have to squeeze past each other to 


exit.”
• “Suitcases from airport passengers still getting stuck going through car.”


The 3rd car type enjoys the highest ratings for standing room. It also best accommodates bicycles.
• “When I got on today there was a ton of space for standing, it stayed pretty roomy for the rest of my trip to Montgomery. 


Meaning I was able to stand without someone breathing down my neck or accidentally touching me... This is a good layout!”
• “Have bike, was easily able to fit on.”
• “More room during busy commute time. Train capacity is noticeably increased and more comfortable for those who have to 


stand everyday such as myself.”
• “Much more room for passengers to onboard off-board and to move around.”
• “Easier to get on/off the train, more space while on train.” 


But the 1st car type enjoys the highest ratings overall, and for handholds and quantity of seats in particular.
• “There was more room for luggage and standing riders as we moved through the more crowded downtown SF stations. GREAT 


improvement.”
• “Love the option of sitting alone. It's good for women. Also a logical use of space. More can stand where before only one could 


sit. Good work, BART!”
• “Single seat is more convenient for senior, disable and pregnant people.”
• “Definitely more standing room. Still crowded during rush hour but not packed to the walls.”
• “Adding more hanging straps does not help stabilize all the standing people. You need to have more vertical bars for this layout 


to work.”
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Current Situation


• In a Spring 2016 customer survey, 18% reported riding BART less 
on weekdays vs. a year ago, and the top BART-related reason was 
“Trains too crowded.”


• Continue to see pass-ups - Montgomery, Embarcadero, West 
Oakland, Lake Merritt, 12th St. Oakland, 19th St. Oakland, 
MacArthur, and Fruitvale


• Recent improvements in car count, but not enough to fully address 
heavy demand. Also, Warm Springs opening will exacerbate 
crowding on the Fremont Line.


• Weekday ridership is below budget YTD.  May be partly due to 
capacity constraints.  


BART Marketing & Research Department 7


Trains too crowded 9%


BART delays or service disruptions 7%


BART fares too expensive 5%


Can’t find parking at BART station 4%


Travel time is too long using BART 3%


BART is too dirty 3%


BART parking fees 1%


Concern about crime on BART 1%







Choke Point Analysis


Operations Planning Department 8
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Recommendations


1. For future modifications, use reconfiguration type 1 with the single row of seats


– This reconfiguration has the best customer ratings


– It also has slightly fewer seats lost compared to the other two options


– Also, it eliminates all the existing choke points in the center of the car, which helps 
draw as many customers as possible away from the door


2. Modify the fleet in proportion to customer sentiment


– This will provide further crowding relief to the 54% who feel the new seating 
configuration makes their ride better, while capping the number of modified cars in 
deference to the 32% who say it makes their ride worse


3. Achieve this objective by limiting the modifications to only the 380 B cars in the fleet


– Limiting it to B cars will provide a more consistent experience for customers, because 
of the somewhat predictable location of B cars in BART train consists


– 20 B cars are already modified, so balance is 360 cars


4. Changes will proceed at roughly ten cars per week


5. Seeking $1.7 million in funding through Transit Performance Initiative (TPI) grant


9








 


BART Board of Directors: Station Access Policy Draft Performance Measures and Targets                      December 1, 2016 


Policy Goal Intent # Performance Measures Baseline 2025 Target 


A. Safer, 
Healthier, 
Greener 


Demonstrate effectiveness of shifting 
more riders to greener & healthier 
modes 


A1. Home-based access mode-share   Active Access: 44%* 


 Shared Mobility: 2729%* 


 Drive & Park: 2927%* 


 Active Access: 5250% 


 Shared Mobility: 3225% 


 Drive & Park: 1625% 


Evaluate: 1) station access safety and 
2) success of off-property investments 
and advocacy 


A2. Decline in collisions within ½ mile radius of stations, 
normalized by ridership by mode 


TBD  Zero fatalities or serious injuries consistent with Vision Zero  


Demonstrate reduction in GHG 
emissions due to mode shift 


A3. GHG emissions per passenger home-based station access trip TBD TBD, in coordination with the Sustainability Program  


B. More Riders Demonstrate success at promoting 
ridership that does not exacerbate 
peak-period – peak direction 
crowding 


B1. Growth in morning peak exits at stations with PDA place types 
including Regional Center (Oakland only), City Center, and 
Suburban Center, compared to Downtown San Francisco  


From 2005-2015, morning peak exits grew 53% in 
Downtown San Francisco and only 16% in Centers outside 
San Francisco.   


Growth in morning peak hour exits from 2015-2025 is 10% 
greater in Centers outside San Francisco than in Downtown San 
Francisco 


Manage parking cost-effectively to 
not exacerbate peak period – peak 
direction crowding 


B2. Morning peak parking availability  ~1% availability systemwide 5% parking availability during the morning peak, by geographic 
area  


C. More 
Productive & 
Efficient 


Track use of access mode 
infrastructure 


C1. Increase the productivity of parking spaces Drive and park riders using BART parking lots / parking 
spaces = 1.1* 


Increase the ratio of drive and park riders using BART lots / 
parking spaces to 1.23 


C2. Secure bike parking availability  Spring 2016 occupancy survey found that 2 stations with 
less than 10% secure bike parking availability 


10% availability of secure bike parking at each station   


C3. Placeholder for tTracking intermodal/curb use and/or quality 
of intermodal  


TBD TBD – to evolve out of current mode use study 


D. Better 
Experience 


Preserve parking options for riders 
coming from farther away, that lack 
other options 


D1. Drive-and-park riders that are coming from outside 3-mile 
radius 


46% of Drive and Park riders are coming from distances of 
3 miles or greater* 


Increase the share of drive-and-park riders that are coming 
from outside the 3-mile radius to 50% or greater   


Demonstrate collaboration & 
coordination with local jurisdictions & 
transit agencies 


D2. BART Participation inSummary of local planning processes 
and/or collaborations with transit agencies resulting with 
BART participation that result in projects that improve station 
access and customer experience  


Examples of Ccurrent local planning processes/transit 
agency collaborations with BART participation:  


 Bay Fair TOD Specific Plan  


 Adeline Corridor Plan 


 Downtown Oakland Specific Plan  


 City of Dublin Iron Horse Trail Feasibility Study 


 AC Transit/BART Interagency Liaison Committee 


5 local planning processes or collaborations with transit 
agencies underway annually 


E. Equitable 
Services 


Ensure adequate access for people of 
all abilities  


E1. Customer satisfaction – rating for “Access for people with 
disabilities” 


Rating of 5.13 (a decline from prior years)** Improve rating by 5% every two years to achieve a rating of 6.5 
by 2024   


E2. Elevator availability QPR Report for FY2016 4th Quarter: 98.63% elevator 
availability (not weighted)  


Station elevators available for patron use at least 98% of the 
time during revenue service periods (efforts should be made to 
achieve 100% availability for ADA purposes) (weighted by high 
ridership and peak periods) 


Ensure investments improve access 
choices for all riders, particularly 
those with the fewest choices 


E3. BART ridership by:  


 Low-income populations        ●     Minority populations 


 LEP populations                        ●    Seniors  


 People with disabilities 


 Low-income populations (less than $50,000): 29%** 


 Minority populations: 62%** 


 LEP populations: 10%** 


 Seniors: 5%** 


 People with disabilities: 3%* 


Show ridership growth consistent with or higher than overall 
ridership growth 


F. Innovation & 
Partnerships 


Demonstrate innovation through pilot 
programs 


F1. Number of new/innovative pilot programs that expand 
opportunities for people to access the BART system  


Current pilot programs underway/planned:  


 Scoop verifiable carpool program 


 Beacon navigation system for sight impaired  


2 pilots annually 


*Preliminary 2015 Station Profile Data; **2014 Customer Satisfaction Survey 
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BART TOD Program


Agenda


•Performance Measures – Changes since 
Nov 17 


•Next Steps 
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BART Station Access Policy


Performance Measures Changes


1. Allocate Carpool to Shared Mobility


2. More aspirational Mode Share Targets


3. Add Greenhouse Gas Reduction Measure, 
coordination with Sustainability Measures


4. Revise Carpool Measure C1 to be more 
aspirational


5. Add Transit Collaboration to Measure D2


6. Remove weighting from E2 (Elevator) measure
2







Active 
Access


52%Shared 
Mobility


32%


Drive & 
Park
16%


2025 TARGET 
ACCESS MODE SHARE


Active 
Access


44%


Shared 
Mobility


29%


Drive & 
Park
27%


2015 ACCESS 
MODE SHARE*


Active 
Access


35%


Shared 
Mobility


31%


Drive & 
Park
34%


2008 ACCESS 
MODE SHARE


BART Station Access Policy


Access Mode Share Targets (home-based)


3*Preliminary 2015 Station Profile Survey Data


Active Access: Walk, Bike


Shared Mobility: Transit, Shuttle, TNC, Drop-Off, Carpool


Drive & Park: Drive Alone







BART Station Access Policy


Next Steps


•Today: Consider Adoption Performance 
Measures 


•Finalize work plan and implement


•Report to Board


•Every year: progress report on the Station 
Access Program


•Every other year: update on progress towards 


the performance targets
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BART Station Access Policy


Motion


The BART Board of Directors hereby adopts 
the attached Station Access Policy 
Performance Measures, as attached. 
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Transit‐Oriented Development 
Policy Performance Measures 
and Targets for 2040


BART Board of Directors
December 1, 2016


BART Planning, Development & 
Construction Department







BART TOD Performance Measures 


Agenda


 Changes since November 17 Board Meeting
 Performance Measures + Targets
 Station Area Goals: Methodology
 Proposed Motion


1
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BART TOD Performance Measures and Targets


Changes to Performance Measures


BART Planning, Development & Construction 2


1. Standards for TOD on BART Property
 Establish minimum density threshold for BART 
TOD Projects of 75 du/ac


 More aggressive parking ratios in 2040
 Addition of TDM goals to reduce car trips from 
BART development – aligned with GreenTrip


 35% Affordability target – 7,000 affordable 
units by 2040







BART TOD Performance Measures and Targets


Changes to Performance Measures


BART Planning, Development & Construction 3


2. Station Area Goals (Highlights)
 ½ Mile growth & density increases aligned with 
Plan Bay Area (PBA) 2017 update


 Increase average Walkscore® from 75 to 85 
 PBA target to reduce CO2 from vehicles by 15%
 Reduce car ownership, drive alone mode to work 
for residents in ½ mile of BART


 No net loss of low income households







BART TOD Performance Measures and Targets


Station Area Goals & Plan Bay Area 2017


Plan Bay Area Forecasted Growth and Assumed BART Target (1,000’s)


2010 2040
% 


Growth 2010 2040
% 


Growth
Regional Growth 2,607           3,427           31% 3,422           4,699           37%
Big 3 Cities 802              1,151           44% 1,144           1,648           44%
Bayside 1,030           1,304           27% 1,405           1,997           42%
Inland, Coastal, Delta 775              971              25% 873              1,054           21%
4 Counties (AL, CC, SF, SM) 1527.9 2007.2 31% 1985.9 2814.1 42%
4 Counties (PDAs Only) 440.9 813.2 84% 1024.4 1566 53%
TAZ's near BART Stations1 463 657 42% 890 1,258           41%
Proposed Target ‐ 1/2 Mile at
Existing/Under Construction BART 
Stations in 4 Counties


184 340 84% 525 802 53%


1 TAZ's, or transportation analysis zones are 6X larger than Station 1/2 Mile, but offer sense of growth allocated near BART
Source: Metropolitan Transportation Commission, Association of Bay Area Governments, 2016


Households Jobs
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BART TOD Performance Measures and Targets


Proposed Motion


Adopt the performance measures and targets to guide 
the activities and priorities of BART's Transit‐Oriented 
Development (TOD) Program from 2016 to 2040.
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BART Board of Directors: Transit-Oriented Development Policy Performance Measures and Targets 23‐Nov‐16


# Draft Performance Measures Baseline 2025 Target  2040 Target 2040 Target Unit of Measurement


A1. Residential Units to be produced on BART property 2,397 7,000 20,000 84%
Increase in Housing Units within 1/2 mile 
of  BART stations from 2010 to 20401 


(155,800 new units)


A2.
Office/Commercial Square Feet to be produced on 
BART property


208,682 1,000,000 4,500,000


A3.
Minimum net density threshold for units on BART 
property 


Min 75 DU/Acre


Mix of Uses A4.
# Station areas (1/2 mile) more than 1 mile from 
grocery store


9 7 0 85
Average Walkscore® for BART Stations 
(2016 Average: 75)


B1.
% Units on BART Property supporting Station Area goal 
of 155,800 new units within 1/2 mile of BART


0.4% 3% 12%


B2.
% Planned jobs on BART Property supporting Station 
Area Goal of 277,500 new jobs within 1/2 mile of BART


0% 1% 5%


B3.
# Catalytic Development Projects (pushing market, 
using innovative materials, assembling land, etc)


8 total 1 per year 2 per year


Reduce Greenhouse 
Gas Emissions (GHG)


B4.
Regional GHG reduced by TOD on BART property 
(pounds/day)


82,000 158,000 680,000 15%
% Reduction in per capita CO2 emissions, 
region‐wide (2005‐2035)1


Increase BART 
ridership


C1.
Estimated Weekday Riders generated from TOD on 
BART property (weekend ridership not included)


3,800 6,000 20,000 200,000
Added weekday ridership from growth 
within 1/2 mile of BART stations


Increase off‐peak and 
reverse commute 
ridership


C2.
TDM Programs established by cities, job centers, 
institutions near BART to encourage transit use


7
16 (All Regional Centers, City 


Centers)


33 (All Regional Centers, City 
Centers, Suburban Centers, 


Mixed‐Use Corridors)


D. Value 
Creation/Value 
Capture


Capture value of transit 
for infrastructure, TOD


D1. Pilot new finance mechanisms to support transit, TOD


1: TBAD (In Progress)
2: Density Bonus for 


Community Benefits (El 
Cerrito)


TBAD, Density Bonus, EIFD, 
VMT Impact Fee all tested 


near BART stations
Test new tools as needed


E1. Maximum parking spaces/residential unit 1.47
0.9 average across all BART 
development


lower than 2025 target of 0.9 65%


Share of HH with 0 or 1 Car within 1/2 
mile of BART stations
(2014: 57% with 0 or 1; 22% with 0 cars
4‐County Total: 32%; 7%)3


E2.
Maximum parking spaces per 1,000 square feet 
office/retail


1.43 (Fruitvale, Richmond, 
Pleasant Hill)


1.6 average across all BART 
development


lower than 2025 target of 1.6


Reduce vehicle miles 
traveled


E3. 
Reduction in vehicle trips from standard development 
via TDM‐related measures (e.g. car share, bike share, 
transit passes) ‐ equivalent to GreenTrip


1/2 of BART housing projects 
incorporate TDM to reduce 
vehicle trips


3/4 of BART housing projects 
incorporate TDM to reduce 
vehicle trips


F1. # affordable units on BART property 764 2,450 7,000


F2. Share of housing units systemwide that are affordable 32%


2 Consistent with Station Access Performance Targets, but extended to 2040.
3 Source: U.S. Census: 2009‐2014 American Community Survey. Rolling average data across 4 year period. Data is for U.S. Census tracts clipped to 1/2 mile of BART, and proportionately adjusted.
4 Ibid.  "Low Income" is defined as households earning less than $50,000. In 2016, HUD defines a 2‐person "Low Income" Household as earning less than $60,150 in the East Bay, and $78,800 in the West Bay. Data and future targets are in 2014 Inflation Adjusted dollars. 


STATION AREA GOALS


Successful value capture mechanisms in widespread use to 
finance transit, TOD


INTENTPOLICY GOAL


District Vitality and 
Growth


STANDARDS FOR TOD ON BART LAND


A. Complete 
Communities


C. Ridership


53%
Increase in Jobs within 1/2 mile of BART 
stations, 2010‐2040 (277,500 new jobs)1


Plan Bay Area (PBA) 
Implementation & 
Regional Quality of Life


No net loss of low income households
 (91,000 HH earning less than $50,000 living in 1/2 mile in 


2014)4


1 Source: Plan Bay Area 2040 Preferred Scenario. Scenario may be changed once EIR is complete in 2017. Includes stations that are currently under construction, but not planned stations. Goals for 1/2 mile are derived from evaluation of Plan Bay Area growth allocated to Priority Development Areas in Alameda, Contra Costa, San Francisco and San 
Mateo counties, and analysis of growth distribution to TAZ's near stations. GHG reduction target is state mandated and is the target MTC is using for Plan Bay Area 2040, despite 2035 time frame. The region is required not to backslide from this target post‐2035.


E. Transportation 
Choice


35%


Reduce overall car 
ownership


Ensure all incomes can 
live near transit


F. Affordability


All stations have a Station Area Plan supporting
 Plan Bay Area growth targetsB. Sustainable 


Communities 
Strategy


65%


Non‐auto mode to work share for 
workers living within 1/2 mile of BART 
stations
(2014: 54%; 4‐County Total: 30%)3


Growth in morning peak hour exits from 2015‐2040 is 25% 
greater in Centers outside San Francisco than in 


Downtown San Francisco2
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A.  PROPOSED 2017 STATE ADVOCACY GOALS 
1. Continue Efforts to Secure & Protect Transit Funding
2. Continue Efforts to Enhance Local Transit Revenue 


Opportunities  
3. Work to Improve Transit Enforcement Capabilities Related to 


Fare Evasion 
4. Support Affordable Housing Efforts to Assist TOD and Deal 


with State Housing Crisis
5. Monitor State Implementation of Pension Reform Laws
6. Continue Support of Legislation to Assist Greenhouse 


Emission  Reduction
7. Work to Pass Necessary BART-Sponsored Legislation
8. Respond to Legislation that Directly Impacts BART


2







B.  PROPOSED 2017 FEDERAL ADVOCACY GOALS
1. Educate Bay Area Congressional Delegation on BART’s Capital Reinvestment 


Needs & Big 3 Priorities


2. Work with Delegation & Passenger Rail Agencies to Push New Administration 
on Infrastructure Plan


3. Monitor and Respond to FAST Act (and MAP-21) Implementation:
 State of Good Repair & Formula Funding
 Core Capacity Grant
 New Safety Implementation


4. Continue Efforts to Increase Transit Security Funding 


5. Seek and Encourage Additional Workforce Development Funding


6. Support Efforts to Increase College Student Discounts for Public Transit
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 SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT 


 ______________________________________  


 


 MEMORANDUM 


 


 


 


TO:  Board of Directors    DATE: November 23, 2016   


 


FROM:  Grace Crunican  


 


SUBJECT: Strategic Plan – Updated Draft Objectives and Key Performance Indicators – 


December 1, 2016 Information Item 


 


The BART Strategic Plan Framework (Attachment 1), approved in October 2015, includes 


several elements:  a Vision, Mission, long-term Goals, and shorter-term (FY 17 – FY 20) 


Strategies.  At the December 1st, 2016 Board meeting, staff will discuss the staff-developed draft 


objectives and performance indicators associated with each of the Goals.  The intent is to begin 


to more systematically and transparently track progress toward the Board-defined Goals with 


meaningful measures.   


 


An initial draft set of performance indicators was mailed to the Board for review on September 


30th, 2016.  Staff has since refined and revised the indicators.  Attachment 2 provides a simplified 


summary and Attachment 3 provides a more detailed draft description of the revised draft 


indicators.  The top-level goal indicators, shown under the light-colored bar, measure overall 


outcomes for each goal area; can best be achieved by BART in partnership with the region; and 


may be affected by background economic and demographic fluctuations.  The next level 


indicators -- BART Objectives, indicated under the darker-colored bar -- are more directly under 


BART’s control.    


 


At the December 1st, Board meeting, members will have an opportunity to discuss the draft 


indicators.  In the meantime, you can contact Bob Powers, 510.874.7442, for more information.  


   


 


    ______________________________  


Grace Crunican 


 


 


cc: Board Appointed Officers 


 Deputy General Manager 


 Executive Staff 








Vision
BART supports a sustainable and prosperous Bay Area by connecting communities with seamless mobility.


Leadership & Partnership in the Region
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Dublin/Pleasanton BART
Parking Garage Expansion


BART Board of Directors


December 1, 2016







Dublin Transit Center 
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• Dublin Transit Center mixed use development
• EIR approved in 2002 by City of Dublin
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Parking Expansion 
Dublin/Pleasanton BART


540 net new 
spaces


540 net new 
spaces


Existing garage 
1,500 spaces


Existing garage 
1,500 spaces


• 655 space addition (540 net new)
• Real‐time monitoring
• Flat floors (supports potential conversion to other 
land uses)


• Environmental 
addendum
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View from east 


Parking Expansion 
Dublin/Pleasanton BART


Phase 2
Proposed Expansion


Phase 2
Proposed Expansion


Phase 1 (2007) -
Existing garage


Phase 1 (2007) -
Existing garage







Dublin is an Auto‐Dependent Station 


4







Access Catchement Area: Home 
Locations of Riders 
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Project Costs & Funding
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Design Construction


Local/regional sources $8.6 m TBD


BART sources TBD


Total
Cost


$8.6 m $28.5 m


Grand Total  $37.1 million*


*Does not include $400,000 BART‐funded environmental phase*Does not include $400,000 BART‐funded environmental phase







• BART Board – possible action (Jan, 2017)
– Adopt project – authorize next steps 
– Adopt environmental addendum and find no new 
significant impacts


– Approve resolution of support for Regional Measure 2 
Funds


• ACTC & MTC boards – possible action (Early 2017)
• Begin design: Early 2017
• Begin construction: 2018


Next Steps 
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To the Board of Directors of the San Francisco 
Bay Area Rapid Transit District  


Oakland, California 
 
We have audited the financial statements of the Enterprise Fund and the Retiree Health Benefit Trust Fund 
of the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District (District) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2016. 
Professional standards require that we provide you with information about our responsibilities under 
generally accepted auditing standards, Government Auditing Standards and the Uniform Guidance, as well 
as certain information related to the planned scope and timing of our audit. We have communicated such 
information in our engagement letter dated April 8, 2016. Professional standards also require that we 
communicate to you on a number of subjects. The information on pages 2 through 5 satisfies these 
requirements. 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the District’s financial statements as of and for the year ended 
June 30, 2016, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, 
we considered the District’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for 
designing our audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our 
opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the District’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
District’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management 
or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct 
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s 
financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the second paragraph and 
was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses. In 
addition, because of inherent limitations in internal control, including the possibility of management 
override of controls, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected by such controls. 
Given these limitations during our audit, we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we 
consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 
 
We have also provided a status of our prior year comments on page 6 of this document. 
 
This communication is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of Directors, management 
and others within the organization, and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than 
these specified parties. 
 
 
 
Oakland, California 
November 23, 2016 
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REQUIRED COMMUNICATIONS 
 
Significant Audit Findings 
 
I. Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices  


 
Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. The 
significant accounting policies used by the District are described in Note 1 to the District’s financial 
statements. As described in Note 2 to the financial statements, the District changed its accounting 
policies related to the following: 


 
 Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 72 – Fair Value 


Measurement and Application 
This statement improved accounting and financial reporting for state and local governments’ 
investments by enhancing the comparability of financial statements among governments by 
requiring measurements of certain assets and liabilities at fair value using a consistent and more 
detailed definition of fair value and accepted valuation techniques. This statement requires 
additional disclosures and did not have a significant impact to the District’s financial 
statements. Please refer to Note 2 of the District’s financial statements for more information. 


 
 GASB Statement No. 76, The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles for 


State and Local Governments  
This statement clarifies the hierarchy of generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and 
reduces the GAAP hierarchy to two categories of authoritative GAAP and addresses the use of 
authoritative and nonauthoritative literature in the event that the accounting treatment for a 
transaction or other event is not specified within the scope of authoritative GAAP. This 
statement did not have a significant impact to the District’s financial statements. 


 
We noted no transactions entered into by the District during the year for which there is a lack of 
authoritative guidance or consensus. All significant transactions have been recognized in the 
financial statements in the proper period. 
 
Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and 
are based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and 
assumptions about future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of 
their significance to the financial statements and because of the possibility that future events 
affecting them may differ significantly from those expected. The most sensitive estimates affecting 
the financial statements were:  
 
 Fair value of investments. The District’s investments are generally at fair value, which is 


defined as the price that would be received in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date. The District’s investments are valued and classified 
within fair value hierarchy established by GASB Statement No. 72 based on guidance from its 
custodian banks.  
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REQUIRED COMMUNICATIONS (Continued)  
 


I. Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
 Useful life estimates for capital and intangible assets. The estimated useful lives of capital and 


intangible assets were based on management’s estimate of the economic lives of the assets. 


 Estimated claims liabilities. Reserves for estimated claims liabilities were based on actuarial 
evaluations using historical loss, other data, and attorney judgment about the ultimate outcome 
of claims. 


 Accrual of compensated absences. The accrual for compensated absences is based on the 
unused sick leave, vacation, and holiday time earned by employees and their salary rates as of 
June 30, 2016. 


 Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postemployment Benefits Plans. The contribution 
requirements, net pension liability of the pension plans, the actuarial other postemployment 
benefits data, including the funded status, were based on actuarially determined studies.  
 


We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the accounting estimates described 
above in determining that they are reasonable in relation to the District’s financial statements taken 
as a whole.  
 
Certain financial statement disclosures are particularly sensitive because of their significance to 
financial statement users. The most sensitive disclosures affecting the financial statements are 
related to investments, long-term debt, defined benefit pension benefits, and postemployment 
healthcare benefits as discussed in notes 2, 6, 10 and 12, respectively, to the financial statements. 
 
The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent and clear. 
 


II. Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit 
 
We encountered no difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing our 
audit. 
 


III. Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements 
 
Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified 
during the audit, other than those that are clearly trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate 
level of management.  The attached schedule summarizes the uncorrected misstatements of the 
financial statements. Management has determined that their effects are immaterial, both 
individually and in the aggregate, to the District’s financial statements taken as a whole.  In 
addition, none of the misstatements detected as a result of audit procedures and corrected by 
management were material, either individually or in the aggregate, to the District’s financial 
statements taken as a whole. 
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REQUIRED COMMUNICATIONS (Continued)  
 
IV. Disagreements with Management  


 
For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting, reporting, 
or auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the 
financial statements or to the auditor’s report. We are pleased to report that no such disagreements 
arose during the course of our audit. 


 
V. Management Representations  


 
We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management 
representation letter dated November 23, 2016. 
 


VI. Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants  
 
In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and 
accounting matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations. If a consultation 
involves application of an accounting principle to the District’s basic financial statements or a 
determination of the type of auditor’s opinion that may be expressed on those financial statements, 
our professional standards require the consulting accountant to check with us to determine that the 
consultant has all the relevant facts. To our knowledge, there were no such consultations with other 
accountants. 
 


VII. Other Audit Findings or Issues  
 
We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and 
auditing standards, with management each year prior to retention as the District’s auditors. 
However, these discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our 
responses were not a condition to our retention. 
 


Other Matters 
 
VIII. Required Supplementary Information 


 
We applied certain limited procedures to the management’s discussion and analysis, the schedule 
of changes in the net pension liability and related ratios, the schedule of employer contributions for 
the defined benefit pension plan, and the schedules of funding progress – other postemployment 
benefits, which are required supplementary information (RSI) that supplements the basic financial 
statements. Our procedures consisted of inquiries of management regarding the methods of 
preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s 
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during 
our audit of the basic financial statements. We did not audit the RSI and do not express an opinion 
or provide any assurance on the RSI. 
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REQUIRED COMMUNICATIONS (Continued)  
 
IX. Other Information in Documents Containing Audited Financial Statements 


 
Our responsibility for other information in documents containing the financial statements and our 
report does not extend beyond the financial information identified in our audit report. We do not 
have an obligation to perform any procedures to corroborate other information contained in these 
documents. The District will include its financial statements and our report in its annual report. 
However, we will read the other information in District’s annual report and consider whether such 
information, or its manner of presentation, is materially inconsistent with information, or the 
manner of its presentation, appearing in the financial statements.  
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CURRENT YEAR COMMENT AND RESPONSE 
 
NONE  
 
STATUS OF PRIOR YEAR COMMENTS 
 


Comment  Summary  Status 
     
# 2015-001  Uniform Guidance for Federal Awards. We 


recommend that the District analyze the Uniform 
Guidance and work closely with its grantor 
agencies to determine what compliance 
requirements have changed beginning on 
December 26, 2014. Because many individuals 
amongst multiple departments of the District may 
be involved with the administration of federal 
grants, the District may want to consider forming a 
central Uniform Guidance task force to assist in 
assessing the District’s internal controls, policies, 
and procedures that may need to be amended to 
ensure compliance with Uniform Guidance 
requirements. 


 In fiscal year 2016, 
representatives from Finance, 
Grant Compliance, Office of 
Civil Rights and Procurement 
have attended training classes 
to gain an understanding of the 
impact of the new Uniform 
Guidance for federal awards. 
The District is currently 
reviewing existing internal 
controls and current policies 
and procedures to ensure 
compliance.  The District’s 
template for sub-recipient 
agreement is also being 
reviewed to ensure adherence 
to the new requirements. 


     


# 2015-002  New Other Postemployment Benefit 
Accounting Standards. The District should begin 
assessing the impacts of the new OPEB standards 
and develop a plan to implement the new 
accounting and financial reporting requirements. 
In addition, the District should work closely with 
its OPEB administrator, actuaries, and auditor to 
ensure that all relevant parties are involved in the 
process that ultimately affect its successful 
implementation. 


 The District has discussed the 
timing of the implementation 
with its auditor and is working 
closely with the recently hired 
actuary to ensure a successful 
implementation of GASB 
Statement Nos. 74 and 75. 
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SUMMARY OF UNCORRECTED MISSTATEMENTS 
 
Impact of Uncorrected Misstatements on Enterprise Fund Financial Statement Captions - Increase (Decrease)


Statement of Net Position Changes in Net Position


Assets and Liabilities Nonoperating
Description (Nature) Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows Operating Operating Revenues, Net and 
of Audit Differences of Resources of Resources Net Position Revenues Expenses Capital Contributions


Uncorrected misstatements


To adjust sales tax revenues from the cash 
basis to accrual basis. 42,981,795$           -$                           41,834,848$           -$                       -$                       1,146,948$                     


To record depreciation expense in the 
correct period -                             -                             -                             -                         (12,500,000)       -                                      


Total uncorrected misstatements 42,981,795$           -$                           41,834,848$           -$                       (12,500,000)$     1,146,948$                     


Financial statement amounts 8,912,644,000$      2,563,689,000$      6,348,955,000$      545,800,000$    834,746,000$    620,709,000$                 


Impact as a percentage of financial 
statement amounts 0.48% 0.00% 0.66% 0.00% -1.50% 0.18%
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 


 
To the Board of Directors of the San Francisco   
   Bay Area Rapid Transit District  
Oakland, California 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 


We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Enterprise Fund and the Retiree Health 
Benefit Trust Fund of the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District (the District) as of and for the 
years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively 
comprise the District’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.  


 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 


Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 


 
Auditor’s Responsibility 


Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted 
our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and 
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 


 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 


 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinions. 
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Opinions 


In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial positions of the Enterprise Fund and the Retiree Health Benefit Trust Fund of the 
District as of June 30, 2016 and 2015, and the respective changes in financial position and, where 
applicable, cash flows thereof for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. 


Other Matters 


Required Supplementary Information 


Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis, the schedule of changes in net pension liability and related ratios, the schedule of 
employer pension contributions, and the schedules of funding progress – other postemployment benefits 
identified in the accompanying table of contents be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. 
Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the GASB who 
considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an 
appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.  We have applied certain limited procedures to the 
required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the 
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, 
the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audits of the basic financial 
statements.  We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited 
procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 


Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 


In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated 
November 23, 2016 on our consideration of the District’s internal control over financial reporting and on 
our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and 
other matters.  The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal 
control over financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the District’s internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance. 


Oakland, California  
November 23, 2016 
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Introduction 
The following discussion and analysis of the financial performance and activity of the San Francisco Bay 
Area Rapid Transit District (the District) provide an introduction and understanding of the basic financial 
statements of the District for the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015.  This discussion was prepared by 
management and should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and the notes thereto, which 
follow this section. 
 
The District is an independent agency created in 1957 by the legislature of the State of California for the 
purpose of providing an adequate, modern, interurban mass rapid transit system in the various portions of 
the metropolitan area surrounding the San Francisco Bay.  The District started its revenue operations in 
September 1972.  It presently owns a 108-mile, 45-station system serving the four counties of Alameda, 
Contra Costa, San Francisco and San Mateo.  The governance of the District is vested in a Board of 
Directors composed of nine members, each representing an election district within the District. 
 
The Financial Statements 
The basic financial statements provide information about the District’s Enterprise Fund and the Retiree 
Health Benefit Trust.  The financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America as promulgated by the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board (GASB).   
 
Overview of the Enterprise Fund Financial Statements  
The Statements of Net Position reports assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows 
of resources and the difference as net position.  The entire equity section is combined to report total net 
position and is displayed in three components - net investment in capital assets; restricted net position; and 
unrestricted net position. 
 
The net position component net investment in capital assets consists of capital assets, net of accumulated 
depreciation and reduced by the outstanding balances of any borrowings attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or improvements of those assets. 
 
Restricted net position consists of assets where constraints on their use are either (a) externally imposed by 
creditors (such as debt covenants), grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments or 
(b) imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 
 
Unrestricted net position consists of net position that does not meet the definition of restricted or net 
investment in capital assets.  This net position component includes net position that has been designated by 
management for specific purposes, which in the case of the District include allocations to fund capital 
projects, and other liabilities, which indicate that management does not consider them to be available for 
general operations. 
 
The Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position consist of operating and nonoperating 
revenues and expenses based upon definitions provided by GASB Statement No. 33, Accounting and 
Financial Reporting for Nonexchange Transactions, as amended by GASB Statement No. 36, Recipient 
Reporting for Certain Shared Nonexchange Revenues, and GASB Statement No. 34, Basic Financial 
Statements and Management’s Discussion and Analysis for State and Local Governments, as amended by 
GASB Statement No. 37, Basic Financial Statements and Management’s Discussion and Analysis for State 
and Local Governments: Omnibus.  Accordingly, significant recurring sources of the District’s revenues, 
such as capital contributions, are reported separately, after nonoperating revenues and expenses.
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Statements of Cash Flows are presented using the direct method and include a reconciliation of operating 
loss to net cash used in operating activities.  
 
Financial Highlights 
 
In fiscal year 2015, the District implemented required changes to accounting and reporting for pensions.  
Due to the limited available information, fiscal year 2014 amounts have not been restated for GASB 
Statements Nos. 68 and 71. 
 
Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position 
A summary of the District’s Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position for fiscal years 
2016, 2015 and 2014 is as follows (dollar amounts in thousands): 
 


 
 
Operating Revenues 
 
In fiscal year 2016, operating revenues increased by $31,259,000 primarily due to (1) an increase of 
$25,949,000 in passenger fares accounted for by a half year fare increase of 3.4% implemented on 
January 1, 2016, and a slight increase in ridership; average weekday ridership in fiscal year 2016 was 
433,394 trips, an increase of 2.4% over the prior fiscal year; and (2) an increase of $5,139,000 in parking 
revenue due to higher parking rates implemented in January 2016 at several stations. 
 
In fiscal year 2015, operating revenues increased by $51,381,000 primarily due to (1) an increase of 
$47,061,000 in passenger fares due to a full year fare increase of 5.2% implemented on January 1, 2014, 
compared to a half year fare increase in fiscal year 2014, and an increase in ridership; average weekday 
ridership in fiscal year 2015 was 423,120 trips, an 8.77% increase over the prior fiscal year; (2) an increase 
of $8,354,000 in parking revenue due to higher parking rates implemented effective January 2015 at several 
stations; and offset by (3) a decrease of $4,485,000 in ground lease revenue due to a one time lump-sum 
recognition of revenue recorded in fiscal year 2014 from the reassignment of ground lease at the West 
Dublin Station to a new lessee. 
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Operating Expenses, Net 
 
In fiscal year 2016, operating expenses, net, increased by $67,605,000, primarily due to (1) an increase of 
$41,100,000 in salaries and benefits principally from (a) an increase of $19,820,000 in employee wages  
from an additional 177 net positions hired in fiscal year 2016 and wage increases per contractual labor 
agreements; (b) an increase of $10,653,000 in overtime for increase operational needs, including major 
track maintenance involving closures of some stations; (c) an increase of $4,279,000 in health insurance 
expense primarily due to increase of about 9% in insurance premium rates; (d) increase of $3,045,000 in 
other postemployment benefit contributions required per actuarially determined valuation, particularly 
related to the District’s Retiree Health Benefit Plan; (e) increase of $4,622,000 in pension expense; and 
offset by (f) decrease of $1,760,000 in workers compensation expense as actual claims have stabilized in 
recent years; (2) an increase of $3,629,000 in maintenance and repairs to keep the system in a good state of 
repairs; (3) an increase of $2,386,000 for full year recognition of purchased transportation costs for the 
Oakland Airport Connector;  (4) an increase of $26,427,000 in depreciation expense due to capitalization 
of recently completed projects, which include among others the Oakland Airport Connector and a portion 
of the Seismic Upgrade Project; (5) increase of $1,099,000 in public liability insurance costs due to higher 
claims; (6) increase of $1,677,000 in traction and power costs due to increase in passenger miles; and offset 
by (7) a decrease in expenses of $11,795,000 from increase in labor reimbursements charged to capital 
grants.  
 
In fiscal year 2015, operating expenses, net, increased by $48,189,000, primarily due to (1) an increase of 
$21,502,000 in salaries and benefits principally from (a) an increase of $19,923,000 in employee wages  
from an additional 87 net positions hired in fiscal year 2015, wage increases per contractual labor 
agreements, and increases associated with revaluation of unused leave benefits earned; (b) a lump sum 
payment of $3,367,000 paid to majority of the employees in fiscal year 2015 for meeting the criteria related 
to the District’s operations as defined in the labor agreements; (c) an increase of $8,842,000  in overtime 
for increased operational needs; (d) an increase of $2,689,000 in health insurance expense due to a weighted 
average increase of 4.48% in insurance premiums; offset by (e) a net decrease of $10,997,000 in pension 
expense from adoption of GASB 68 ($16,487,000), offset by a $5,490,000 increase in pension contribution 
due to increase in contribution rates; and (f) a decrease of $3,451,000 in postemployment benefit expenses, 
as actuarially determined; (2) an increase of $7,242,000 in maintenance and repairs to keep the system in a 
good state of repairs; (3) an increase of $3,543,000 in purchase transportation costs for operating the new 
Oakland Airport Connector; (4) an increase of $3,240,000 in feeder agreement paid to AC Transit due to 
shortfall  in state transit assistance; (5) an increase of $22,373,000 in depreciation expense due to 
capitalization of recently completed projects, which include among others the Oakland Airport Connector 
and a portion of the Seismic Upgrade Project; and (6) a decrease in expenses of $11,401,000 from increase 
in labor reimbursements charged to capital grants. 
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Nonoperating Revenues, Net 
 
In fiscal year 2016, nonoperating revenues, net, decreased by $10,628,000 primarily from (1) a decrease of 
$34,513,000 in operating financial assistance principally from (a) decline of $31,471,000 in Federal 
Financial Assistance from the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) related to operating preventive 
maintenance project; (b) decrease of $6,507,000  in State Transit Assistance due to continued decline in 
diesel fuel prices; offset by (c) increase of $2,108,000 in Measure BB grants representing 9 more months 
of additional revenue compared to fiscal year 2015; and (d) increase of $1,596,000 in financial assistance 
from the State of California from Low Carbon Transit Operations Program (LCTOP) allocation (see Note 
9); (2) a decrease of $10,307,000 in earmarked property tax revenue based on required debt service 
payments for the General Obligation Bonds, reduced by an increase of $3,762,000 in property tax revenue 
for general operations due to continued increase in property valuations in the San Francisco Bay Area;  (3) 
decrease of $5,121,000 due to absence of revenue from donated assets recognized in fiscal year 2015; (4) 
decrease of $1,169,000 associated with the debt issuance costs incurred in fiscal year 2016 from the General 
Obligation Bonds and Sales Tax Revenue Bonds refunding (see Note 6); and offset by (5) an increase of 
$8,398,000 or about 3.6% in sales tax revenue as the economy in the San Francisco Bay Area continues to 
expand; (6) increase of $1,271,000 in gain from exchange of property arising from the land swap between 
the District and the City of Livermore; (7) an increase of $2,871,000 due to decrease in interest expense 
principally from  lower outstanding Sales Tax Revenue Bonds and from lower interest rates due to 
refunding; and (8) an increase of $23,992,000 due to lower payments to the Metropolitan Transportation 
Commission (MTC) for restricted account established to fund the District’s rail car replacement project 
(see Note 8).  
 
In fiscal year 2015, nonoperating revenues, net, increased by $20,707,000 primarily from (1) an increase 
of $11,999,000 or about 5.4% in sales tax revenue as the economy in the San Francisco Bay Area continues 
to expand; (2) an increase of $13,329,000 in operating financial assistance received primarily from FTA 
related to operating preventive maintenance project, offset by a decrease of $2,333,000 in State Transit 
Assistance due to decline in diesel fuel prices; (3) an increase of $2,470,000 in investment income as more 
funds are channeled to investments and also from the fluctuation in market value of investments; (4) a gain 
of $6,012,000 from exchange of property between the District and the Richmond Transit, LLC (see Note 
14); (5) donated income of $5,121,000 recognized from receipt of two parcels of land from Oakland 
Redevelopment Agency (see Note 14); offset by (6) a decrease of $12,127,000 in earmarked property tax 
revenue based on required debt service payments for the General Obligation Bonds, reduced by an increase 
of $2,270,000 in property tax revenue for general operations due to increase in property valuations in the 
San Francisco Bay Area; (7) a decrease of $4,498,000 due to increase in interest expense from  the full year 
recognition of interest expense for the General Obligation Bonds issued in November 2013; and (8) a 
decrease of $2,168,000 due to higher payments to MTC for restricted account established to fund the 
District’s rail car replacement project (see Note 8).  
 
Capital Contributions 


The revenues from capital contributions relate to grants and other financial assistance received by the 
District from federal, state and local agencies to fund capital projects.  The District receives mostly 
reimbursement-type grants of which the District has to first incur eligible costs under the provider’s 
program before qualifying for the grant resources.  Revenues from capital contributions are recognized at 
the time when the eligible project costs are incurred.   
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In fiscal year 2016, revenue from capital contributions increased by $71,892,000 primarily from (1) a net 
increase in revenue of $5,817,000 from grants received from the State of California mostly due to (a) 
increase of  $20,122,000 in High Speed Passenger Train Bond Funds grants received for the rail car 
procurement and Hayward Maintenance Complex projects; (b) increase of $19,289,000 from various 
projects funded by Proposition 1B Public Transportation, Modernization, Improvement, and Service 
Enhancement Account (PTMISEA); offset by (c) a $17,339,000 decrease in realized revenue associated 
with reduction in Proposition 1B State Local Partnership Program (SLPP)  grants for the Warm Springs 
Extension; (d) a decrease of $4,293,000 in security related grants funded by the State; (e) $7,926,000 
reduction for the Union City Phase 2 Intermodal project ; and (f) a decrease of 4,036,000 in other grants 
received from the California Department of Transportation mostly for the Warm Springs Extension project 
as it gets closer to completion; (2) a net increase of $85,994,000 from federal fund sources primarily due to 
(a) reduction in  federal grants revenue  booked in fiscal year 2015  from recognizing a revenue  offset of 
$43,900,000 for Port facility fees earned in prior years as a result of transfer of capital assets to the Port of 
Oakland, in conformity with the development agreement, upon completion of the Oakland Connector 
Project in November 2014; (b) increase of $32,642,000 mostly from higher utilization of federal funds as 
part of the current initiative undertaken by the District to spend down old FTA  grants; and  (c) increase of 
$9,452,000 in Department of Homeland Security grants revenue for security related projects; (3) an increase 
of $52,628,000 from a combination of funds received  from  MTC, Contra Costa Transportation Authority 
(CCTA) Measure J funds and City of Pittsburg primarily for the eBART extension project; (4) increase of 
$6,131,000 from Union City for the Phase 2 Intermodal project; and offset by (5) a decrease of $77,641,000 
for funds received from Alameda County Transportation  Commission (ACTC) from Measure B funds as 
the Warm Springs Extension project gets closer to completion.   
 
In fiscal year 2015, revenue from capital contributions decreased by $70,459,000 primarily from (1) a net 
decrease in revenue of $79,964,000 from grants received from the State of California mostly due to (a) 
$27,932,000 reduction in funds utilized in fiscal year 2015 for the Warm Springs Extension project as funds 
received in prior years are fully expended; (b) a $59,148,000 decrease in grants received for the rail car 
procurement project; offset by (c) a $5,164,000 increase in revenue realized associated with security related 
grants; (2) a net decrease of $38,536,000 from federal fund sources primarily due to recognition of revenue 
offset of $43,900,000 associated with Port facility fees earned in prior years as a result of transfer of capital 
assets to the Port of Oakland upon completion of the Oakland Connector Project in conformity with the 
development agreement, offset by $5,364,000 increased utilization in FTA grants; (3) an increase of 
$1,289,000 from funds received  from Union City for the Phase 2 intermodal project; (4) an increase of 
$27,256,000 for funds received from ACTC from Measure B funds ($21,512,000) for the Warm Springs 
Extension project and  from CCTA Measure J funds ($5,744,000) for the eBart project; (5) an increase of 
$14,858,000 from Santa Clara Valley Transportation Authority (VTA) for the Hayward Maintenance 
Complex project and for the VTA extension project; and (6) an increase of $4,472,000 from MTC for the 
Warm Springs Extension project. 
 
The major additions in fiscal years 2016 and 2015 to capital projects are detailed on page 11. 
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Statements of Net Position 


A comparison of the District’s Statements of Net Position as of June 30, 2016, 2015 and 2014 is as follows 
(dollar amounts in thousands): 
 


 
 


Current Assets  


In fiscal year 2016, current assets increased by $83,553,000 principally from (1) an offsetting  increase of 
$53,137,000 in cash and cash equivalents and decrease in grants receivable from payments received from 
the granting agencies; (2) a net increase of $18,667,000 in cash and cash equivalents primarily from 
additional cash advances received, classified as current, for projects funded by Proposition 1B funds; (3) 
an increase of $6,894,000 primarily for advance payment of premium for medical insurance, traction power 
and rent; (4) an increase of $4,292,000 in materials and supplies inventory due to timing in the usage of 
supplies; offset by (5) a decrease of $14,379,000 from cash and cash equivalents held by the Operating 
Fund reinvested to noncurrent investments; (6) a decrease of $7,494,000 in unrestricted and restricted cash 
and current investment due to timing of payment of vendor invoices;  (7) a decrease of $22,664,000 in cash 
and cash equivalents from the proceeds of the General Obligation Bonds for payments of seismic upgrade 
related expenses ($6,838,000) and reduction in the balance of the debt service funds ($15,826,000), as 
determined by debt service requirements; (8) a decrease of $7,910,000 in cash and cash equivalents from 
the proceeds of the 2012 Sales Tax Revenue Bonds for payment of expenses related to the Oakland Airport 
Connector project; (9) a decrease of $14,894,000 in the debt service funds for various Sales Tax Revenue 
Bonds, as determined by debt service requirements; and (10) increase of $122,233,000 in current 
investments from amounts reclassified from noncurrent investments due to length of maturity of 
investments from the end of fiscal year 2016. 
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In fiscal year 2015, current assets increased by $219,692,000 principally from (1) an increase of 
$56,417,000 in cash and cash equivalents from collections of grants receivable as the billing process 
improved; (2) a net increase of $48,380,000 from additions to operating reserves and unexpended net 
earnings set aside to fund capital projects; (3) an increase of $24,731,000 in unrestricted and restricted cash 
and current investment due to timing of payment of vendor invoices; (4) an increase of $36,575,000 from 
noncurrent investments reinvested in cash and cash equivalents; (5) an increase of $6,471,000 for advance 
payment of premium for medical insurance; (6) an increase of $3,453,000 in materials and supplies 
inventory due to timing in the usage of supplies; offset by (7) a decrease of $48,129,000 in cash and cash 
equivalents from the proceeds of the General Obligation Bonds for payments of seismic upgrade related 
expenses; (8) a decrease of $15,001,000 in cash and cash equivalents from the proceeds of the 2012 Sales 
Tax Revenue Bonds for payment of expenses related to the Oakland Airport Connector project; (9) a net 
decrease of $9,046,000 in cash and cash equivalents from usage of cash advances received for projects 
funded by Proposition 1B funds; (10) a decrease of $1,298,000 in accrued property tax receivable for 
general operations due to timing in receipts; and (11) increase of $115,237,000 in current investments from 
amounts reclassified from noncurrent investments due to length of maturity of investments from the end of 
fiscal year 2015. 
 
Noncurrent Assets - Other  


In fiscal year 2016, noncurrent assets – other decreased by $19,816,000 primarily from (1) an increase of 
$14,379,000 in noncurrent investments from funds originally held by the District in fiscal year 2015  as 
cash and cash equivalents; (2) a net increase of $88,347,000 from additions to operating reserves and 
unexpended net earnings set aside to fund capital projects; and (3) decrease of $122,233,000 in noncurrent 
investments due to amounts reclassified to current investments based on length of maturity of investments 
from the end of fiscal year 2016. 
 
In fiscal year 2015, noncurrent assets – other decreased by $133,288,000 primarily from (1) a decrease of 
$33,513,000 in restricted noncurrent investments from the proceeds of the 2013 General Obligation Bonds; 
the funds were reinvested in current investments; (2) an increase of $17,728,000 in noncurrent investments 
from funds held by the Operating Fund; (3) a decrease of $2,226,000 in property tax receivable for debt 
service of the General Obligation Bonds; and (4) decrease of $115,237,000 in noncurrent investments due 
to amounts reclassified to current investments based on length of maturity of investments from the end of 
fiscal year 2015. 
 
Current Liabilities 


In fiscal year 2016, current liabilities increased by $33,323,000 primarily due to (1) an increase of 
$36,988,000 in payables to vendors and contractors due to  timing of receiving and paying their invoices; 
(2) an increase of $3,604,000 in payables to employees due to timing in paying the payroll at the end of the 
fiscal year and in the remittances of payroll taxes and benefits; (3) an increase of $806,000 in the accruals 
of compensated absences estimated to be paid in the following fiscal year; (4) a decrease of $3,001,000 in 
interest payable; (5) a decrease of $27,540,000 for payments made during the fiscal year of principal 
balances of outstanding Sales Tax Revenue and General Obligation Bonds; (6) an increase of $27,225,000 
in current portion of outstanding balances of Sales Tax Revenue and General Obligation Bonds reclassified 
from long-term debt; (7) an increase of $1,180,000 in current reserves required for workers compensation 
and general liability insurance; (8) reclassification to noncurrent liability leading to a decrease of 
$25,816,000 in unearned revenues associated with the deferral in recognizing the property exchange 
between MacArthur Community Partners, LLC and the District pending the transfer of title to the land 
subject to exchange (see Note 14); (9) an increase of $586,000 in unearned revenue related to passenger 
fare and parking; and (10) an increase of $18,848,000 in the current portion of advances from grantors 
based on projected fund utilization for fiscal year 2017. 
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In fiscal year 2015, current liabilities increased by $42,981,000 primarily due to (1) an increase of 
$17,976,000 in payables to vendors and contractors due to  timing of receiving and paying their invoices; 
(2) an increase of $4,572,000 in payables to employees due to timing in paying the payroll at the end of the 
fiscal year and in the remittances of payroll taxes and benefits; (3) a decrease of $1,401,000 in the accruals 
of compensated absences estimated to be paid in the following fiscal year; (4) a decrease of $37,575,000 
for payments made during the fiscal year of principal balances of outstanding Sales Tax Revenue and 
General Obligation Bonds; (5) an increase of $27,540,000 for current portion of outstanding balances of 
Sales Tax Revenue and General Obligation Bonds reclassified from long-term debt; (6) a decrease of 
$768,000 in current reserves required for workers compensation and general liability insurance; (7) an 
increase of $25,815,000 in unearned revenues associated with the deferral in recognizing the property 
exchange between MacArthur Transit Community Partners, LLC and the District pending the transfer of 
title to the land, which is the subject of the exchange (see Note 14); (8) an increase of $2,965,000 in 
unearned revenue related to passenger fare and parking; and (9) an increase of $3,743,000 in the current 
portion of advances from grantors based on projected fund utilization for fiscal year 2016. 
 


Noncurrent Liabilities 


In fiscal year 2016, noncurrent liabilities increased by $38,488,000 principally from (1) a decrease of 
$2,966,000 in payables to vendors and contractors due to  timing of receiving and paying their invoices; (2) 
a decrease of $1,700,000 in payables to employees due to timing in the utilization of accrued compensated 
absences; (3) an increase of $1,636,000 in noncurrent portion of accruals for unfunded other 
postemployment benefits per actuarial calculation; (4) an increase of $69,757,000 in net pension liability 
primarily due to lower return on investments; (5) a net increase of $46,022,000 in unamortized premium 
from issuance of bonds consisted of: (a) increase of $73,650,000 from the  issuance of the General 
Obligation Refunding Bonds and the Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds in the current fiscal year; offset 
by (b) decrease of $18,396,000 due to reclassification of unamortized premium to deferred interest 
associated with the defeased bonds (see Note 6); and (c) decrease of $9,232,000 for amortization of the 
bond issue premium in fiscal year 2016; (6) a decrease of $27,225,000 for portion reclassified to current 
liability for Sales Tax Revenue and General Obligation Bonds; (7) decrease of  $532,385,000  from the 
defeasance of Sales Tax Revenue Bonds and General Obligation Bonds, offset by increase of $463,445,000 
from the issuance of the 2015 Sales Tax Revenue and General Obligation Refunding Bonds; (8) a decrease 
of $2,185,000 in the noncurrent portion of advances from grantors based on estimated utilization for the 
next fiscal year; (9) an increase of $25,815,000 due to reclassification to noncurrent liability of unearned 
revenue associated with the deferral in recognizing the property exchange between Richmond Transit, LLC 
and the District pending the transfer of title to the land, which is the subject of the exchange (see Note 14); 
and (10) a decrease of $1,325,000 in noncurrent portion of reserves required for workers compensation and 
general liability insurance. 
 
In fiscal year 2015, noncurrent liabilities increased by $385,134,000 principally from (1) an increase of 
$4,075,000 in payables to employees due to timing in the utilization of accrued compensated absences; (2) 
an increase of $2,032,000 in noncurrent portion of accruals for unfunded other post-employment benefits 
per actuarial calculation; (3) an increase of $397,465,000 for recognition of net pension liability from the 
initial adoption of GASB 68; (4) a decrease of $4,270,000 for amortization on premiums from issuance of 
bonds; (5) a decrease of $27,540,000 for portion reclassified to current liability for Sales Tax Revenue and 
General Obligation bonds; (6) a decrease of $19,528,000 in the noncurrent portion of advances from 
grantors based on estimated utilization for the next fiscal year; (7) an increase of $30,110,000 in unearned 
revenue associated with the deferral in recognizing the property exchange between Richmond Transit, LLC 
and the District pending the transfer of title to the land, which is the subject of the exchange (see Note 14); 
and (8) an increase of $2,060,000 in noncurrent reserves required for workers compensation and general 
liability insurance. 
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Capital Assets 


Details of the capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, as of June 30, 2016, 2015 and 2014 are as 
follows (dollar amounts in thousands): 
 


 
 
The District’s capital assets before depreciation and retirements showed a net increase of $446,792,000 in 
2016 and $449,792,000 in 2015.  There were no major retirements in 2016. In fiscal year 2015, $43,900,000 
of capital assets acquired during the construction of the Oakland Airport Connector, which were funded by 
the Port of Oakland using port facilities fees, were transferred to the Port of Oakland based on the 
development agreement entered in January 2010 and is shown as a retirement of construction in progress 
in Note 4.  Major additions in capital assets included capital expenditures for the acquisition and/or major 
improvements related to the following assets (dollar amounts in thousands): 
 


 
 


Guideway and Passenger Stations included among others the costs associated with the Oakland Airport 
Connector, which was completed in November 2014, Warm Springs Extension project, which is expected 
to be completed in early 2017, the eBart Extension project, and the ongoing Earthquake Safety Program.  
A significant portion of the additions to Maintenance & Administration Buildings are related to the new 
Hayward Maintenance Complex, which is being constructed to accommodate the much larger and more 
technologically advance new rail fleet.  The Revenue Transit Vehicle expenses are associated with the 
project to procure and replace the existing rail cars and the new Diesel Cars for the eBART project. 
 
The District has entered into contracts for the construction of various facilities and equipment totaling 
approximately $2,700,000,000 at June 30, 2016 and $2,022,590,000 at June 30, 2015.  
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Long-Term Debt 


The outstanding balance of total long-term debt (including current portion but excluding unamortized 
balance of bond premium/discounts) as of June 30, 2016, 2015 and 2014 are as follows (dollar amounts in 
thousands): 


 
 
Total long-term debt in fiscal year 2016 decreased by $96,480,000 due to (1) $304,105,000 principal 
payment of current outstanding General Obligation Bonds and full defeasance of the 2005 General 
Obligation Bonds as well as partial defeasance of the 2007 General Obligation Bonds, offset by the 
outstanding balance of $276,805,000 for the new 2015 General Obligation Refunding Bonds; and (2) 
$255,820,000 principal payment of current outstanding Sales Tax Revenue Bonds and full defeasance of 
the remaining outstanding 2005 Sales Tax Revenue Bonds and 2006 Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, offset by 
the outstanding balance of $186,640,000 for the new 2015 Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds. 
 
Total long-term debt in fiscal year 2015 decreased by $37,575,000 due to (1) $17,480,000 principal 
payment of current outstanding General Obligation Bonds; and (2) $20,095,000 principal payment of 
current outstanding Sales Tax Revenue Bonds. 
 
Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budgets 


On June 9, 2016, The District’s Board of Directors adopted a balanced operating budget of $931,539,000 
and a capital budget of $888,483,000 for the fiscal year 2017.   
 
The fiscal year 2017 budget for operating sources is $34,245,000 higher than the fiscal year 2016 budget 
(excluding the impact of a Federal pass-through grant), with ridership and sales tax growth in fiscal year 
2016 contributing to the increase.  In fiscal year 2016 total ridership grew 2.0% and was under budget by 
0.7%. Moderate weekday ridership growth of 2.3% is budgeted for fiscal year 2017. In order to serve current 
crowded trains and future increases in ridership, the District is investing in its aging rail vehicle fleet and 
infrastructure and expanding shop capacity. The fiscal year 2017 preliminary budget supports the District’s 
continued efforts to reinvest in the system, welcomes the first of at least 775 new rail cars and opens the 
Warm Springs/South Fremont station. However, limited funds were available for additional new programs 
as revenues are constrained due to a projected slowdown in ridership growth and sales tax income, which 
together account for 86% of the District’s revenue sources. The District continues investment in our aging 
infrastructure in fiscal year 2017, at a level of self-help that is among the highest for a transit operator in 
the nation. Over the past five years, the District has reinvested over $500 million of operating funds into 
critical projects such as new rail cars and station renovation. The fiscal year 2017 capital budget also 
prioritizes reinvestment, with 67% of the $876M budget programmed to system reinvestment projects. 
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The current operating budget supplies critical funding to capital programs, and continues an annual 
$45,000,000 allocation to the Rail Car Sinking Fund as part of a $298,000,000 initial commitment for the 
District’s share of the Phase I acquisition of 410 rail cars. In addition, the District’s Board of Directors also 
dedicated all incremental revenue generated from the productivity-adjusted inflation-based fare increase 
program towards high priority capital projects, including the Rail Car Replacement Program, Hayward 
Maintenance Complex, and Train Control Modernization Project. In fiscal year 2017, this amount is 
estimated at just over $35,000,000. The fiscal year 2017 operating budget also included $40,645,000 for 
other state of good repair needs, such as right-of-way fencing, battery replacement, and the “baseline” State 
of  Good Repair allocation that provides for local match on capital grants, stations and facilities renovation, 
equipment and other needs. Despite these investments, the District needs to aggressively seek other funding 
sources to increase its existing capital resources in order to sustain its current state of reliability. The BART 
Asset Management Program has identified a wide variety of system infrastructure funding needs.  
 
A full 67% of capital expenditures next year are directed to System Renovation, at $584,463,000.  This 
includes the Rail Car Replacement Program, the Hayward Maintenance Complex, station modernization, 
replacement of train control system, traction power, trackway renovation and other capital projects. The 
second largest is system expansion, including completion of the eBART and Warm Springs projects.  Work 
will also continue on essential security upgrades, life safety improvements, service and capacity 
enhancements, and ADA/system accessibility improvements. 
 
Contacting the District’s Financial Management 


The District’s financial report is designed to provide the District’s Board of Directors, management, 
investors, creditors, legislative and oversight agencies, citizens and customers with an overview of the 
District’s finances and to demonstrate its accountability for funds received.  For additional information 
about this report, please contact Rosemarie Poblete, Controller-Treasurer, at 300 Lakeside Drive, P.O. Box 
12688, Oakland, California 94604. 
 
 







2016 2015


Assets
Current assets


Unrestricted assets
Cash and cash equivalents 265,069$                  222,851$                  
Investments 387,204                    288,059                    
Government receivables 139,283                    192,420                    
Receivables and other assets 29,754                      22,830                      
Materials and supplies 35,873                      31,582                      


Total unrestricted current assets 857,183                    757,742                    


Restricted assets
Cash and cash equivalents 434,304                    332,126                    
Investments 159,675                    276,520                    
Receivables and other assets 1,070                        2,291                        


Total restricted current assets 595,049                    610,937                    


Total current assets 1,452,232                 1,368,679                 


Noncurrent assets
Capital assets


Nondepreciable 2,336,792                 2,342,153                 
Depreciable, net of accumulated depreciation 5,041,241                 4,787,540                 


Unrestricted assets
Receivables and other assets 198                           226                           


Restricted assets
Investments -                            20,035                      
Receivables and other assets 11,287                      11,040                      


Total noncurrent assets 7,389,518                 7,160,994                 


Total assets 8,841,750                 8,529,673                 


Deferred Outflows of Resources
Losses on refundings of debt 20,468                      18,377                      
Pension related 50,426                      42,268                      


Total deferred outflow of resources 70,894                      60,645                      


SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Enterprise Fund


Statements of Net Position
June 30, 2016 and 2015


(dollar amounts in thousands)


The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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2016 2015


Liabilities
Current liabilities


Accounts payable and other liabilities 222,409$                  184,013$                  
Unearned revenue 71,021                      76,958                      
Current portion of long-term debt 27,225                      27,540                      
Self-insurance liabilities 18,479                      17,300                      


Total current liabilities 339,134                    305,811                    


Noncurrent liabilities
Accounts payable and other liabilities 44,418                      49,085                      
Unearned revenue 234,412                    211,183                    
Long-term debt, net of current portion 1,334,403                 1,384,546                 
Self-insurance liabilities, net of current portion 34,829                      36,153                      
Other postemployement benefits 63,047                      61,411                      
Net pension liability 467,222                    397,465                    


Total noncurrent liabilities 2,178,331                 2,139,843                 


Total liabilities 2,517,465                 2,445,654                 


Deferred Inflows of Resources
Related to pensions 46,224                      127,472                    


Net position
Net investment in capital assets 6,055,965                 5,816,753                 
Restricted for debt service and other liabilities 214,849                    193,944                    
Unrestricted 78,141                      6,495                        


Total net position 6,348,955$               6,017,192$               


Enterprise Fund
Statements of Net Position, continued


June 30, 2016 and 2015
(dollar amounts in thousands)


SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT


The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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2016 2015


Operating revenues
Fares 489,583$                   463,634$                   
Other 56,217                       50,907                       


Total operating revenues 545,800                     514,541                     


Operating expenses
Transportation 188,236                     183,296                     
Maintenance 285,996                     251,817                     
Police services 63,921                       55,722                       
Construction and engineering 23,917                       20,309                       
General and administrative 150,986                     149,287                     
Depreciation 196,452                     170,025                     


Total operating expenses 909,508                     830,456                     


Less - capitalized costs (74,762)                      (63,315)                      


Net operating expenses 834,746                     767,141                     


Operating loss (288,946)                    (252,600)                    


Nonoperating revenues (expenses)
Transactions and use tax - sales tax 241,547                     233,148                     
Property tax 55,849                       62,394                       
Operating financial assistance 72,794                       107,308                     
Contribution for BART car replacement funding exchange program (50,176)                      (74,168)                      
Investment income 2,752                         2,507                         
Interest expense (36,217)                      (39,088)                      
Donated assets received -                             5,121                         
Gain from exchange of property 7,284                         6,012                         
Other expense, net (1,247)                        (20)                             


Total nonoperating revenues, net 292,586                     303,214                     


Change in net position before capital contributions and special item 3,640                         50,614                       
Capital contributions 328,123                     256,231                     


Change in net position 331,763                     306,845                     


Net position, beginning of year 6,017,192                  5,710,347                  


Net position, end of year 6,348,955$                6,017,192$                


SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Enterprise Fund


Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
For the Years Ended June 30, 2016 and 2015


(dollar amounts in thousands)


The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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2016 2015


Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers 490,123$                    465,484$                    
Payments to suppliers (191,834)                    (171,644)                    
Payments to employees (467,754)                    (409,281)                    
Other operating cash receipts 56,689                        50,072                        


Net cash used in operating activities (112,776)                    (65,369)                      


Cash flows from noncapital financing activities
Transactions and use tax (sales tax) received 192,919                      177,163                      
Property tax received 37,490                        34,336                        
Financial assistance received 75,126                        108,812                      


Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities 305,535                      320,311                      


Cash flows from capital and related financing activities
Transactions and use tax (sales tax) received 48,628                        55,985                        
Property tax received 18,152                        29,355                        
Capital grants received 399,253                      314,490                      
Expenditures for facilities, property and equipment (411,182)                    (375,631)                    
Principal paid on long-term debt (559,925)                    (37,575)                      
Payments of long-term debt issuance and service costs (1,201)                        (59)                             
Proceeds from issuance of General Obligation Bonds 319,105                      -                             
Proceeds from issuance of Sales Tax Revenue Bonds 217,990                      -                             
Deferred interest paid for defeased bonds (21,641)                      -                             
Interest paid on long-term debt (47,298)                      (36,517)                      
Contribution for BART car replacement funding exchange program (50,176)                      (74,168)                      
Deposit refunded (248)                           (54)                             


Net cash provided by (used in) capital and related financing activities (88,543)                      (124,174)                    


Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale and maturity of investments 129,003                      207,637                      
Purchase of investments (90,918)                      (542,457)                    
Investment income (loss) 2,095                          (690)                           


Net cash used in investing activities 40,180                        (335,510)                    


Net change in cash and cash equivalents 144,396                      (204,742)                    


Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 554,977                      759,719                      


Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 699,373$                    554,977$                    


Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents to 
the Statements of Net Position


Current, unrestricted assets - cash and cash equivalents 265,069$                    222,851$                    
Current, restricted assets - cash and cash equivalents 434,304                      332,126                      


Total cash and cash equivalents 699,373$                    554,977$                    


SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Enterprise Fund


Statements of Cash Flows
For the Years Ended June 30, 2016 and 2015


(dollar amounts in thousands)


The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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2016 2015


Reconciliation of operating loss to net cash
used in operating activities
Operating loss (288,946)$                  (252,600)$                  
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash
used in operating activities:


Depreciation 196,452                      170,025                      
Amortization of deferred settlement costs 50                               30                               
Net effect of changes in


Receivables and other assets (15,753)                      (6,606)                        
Materials and supplies (4,292)                        (3,453)                        
Accounts payable and other liabilities 637                             22,474                        
Self-insurance liabilities (145)                           1,293                          
Unearned revenue (779)                           3,468                          


Net cash used in operating activities (112,776)$                  (65,369)$                    


Noncash transactions
Capital assets acquired with a liability at year-end 89,715$                      63,552$                      
Increase in fair value of investments 349                             1,462                          
Amortization of long-term debt premium, discount and issue costs (9,234)                        (4,270)                        
Bond premium reclassed to losses on refunding of debt (18,394)                      -                             
Amortization of loss on early debt retirement 1,153                          1,056                          
Amortization of ground lease 534                             534                             
Capital assets transferred to Port of Oakland -                             (43,900)                      
Property exchanged with the City of Richmond -                             36,260                        
Property exchanged with MacArthur Transit Community Partners, LLC -                             27,596                        
Other property exchanged, net 7,191                          -                             
Donated land from the City of Oakland -                             5,121                          


(dollar amounts in thousands)


SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Enterprise Fund


Statements of Cash Flows, continued
For the Years Ended June 30, 2016 and 2015


The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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2016 2015


Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1,162$                        43$                             
Receivables and other assets 404                             1,350                          
Investments


Domestic common stocks 101,231                      90,569                        
U.S. Treasury obligations 53,413                        35,808                        
Money market mutual funds 29,893                        20,728                        
Mutual funds - equity 45,701                        46,704                        
Corporate obligations 12,271                        20,968                        
Foreign stocks 3,024                          3,628                          
Foreign obligations 1,938                          3,609                          


Total investments 247,471                      222,014                      


Total assets 249,037                      223,407                      


Liabilities
Accounts payable 149                             1,640                          
Pending trades payable 11,485                        -                             


Total liabilities 11,634                        1,640                          


Net position restricted for retiree health benefits 237,403$                    221,767$                    


SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Retiree Health Benefit Trust


Statements of Trust Net Position
June 30, 2016 and 2015


(dollar amounts in thousands)


The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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2016 2015


Additions


Employer contributions 
Cash contributions 27,145$                      23,704$                      


Investment income
Interest income 4,636                          3,924                          
Net appreciation in fair value of investments 1,993                          9,043                          
Investment expense (513)                           (432)                           


Net investment income 6,116                          12,535                        


Total additions 33,261                        36,239                        


Deductions
Benefit payments 17,422                        16,469                        
Legal fees 12                               (2)                               
Audit fees 15                               15                               
Insurance expense 26                               24                               
Administrative fees 150                             147                             


Total deductions 17,625                        16,653                        


Increase in trust net position 15,636                        19,586                        


Net position restricted for retiree health benefits
Beginning of year 221,767                      202,181                      


End of year 237,403$                    221,767$                    


SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Retiree Health Benefit Trust


Statements of Changes in Trust Net Position
For the Years Ended June 30, 2016 and 2015


(dollar amounts in thousands)


The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.


21







SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT 
  Notes to Financial Statements 


June 30, 2016 and 2015 
 
 


22 


1. Reporting Entity and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 
Description of Reporting Entity 
The San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District (the District) is a public agency created by the legislature 
of the State of California in 1957 and regulated by the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District Act, 
as amended, and subject to transit district law as codified in the California Public Utilities Code.  The 
disbursement of funds received by the District is controlled by statutes and by provisions of various grant 
contracts entered into with federal, state and local agencies. 
 
Basis of Accounting and Presentation 
The basic financial statements provide information about the District’s Enterprise Fund and the Retiree 
Health Benefit Trust Fund (the Trust).  Separate statements for each fund category – proprietary and 
fiduciary – are presented.  The basic financial statements are reported using the economic resources 
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses 
are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of the related cash flows.  Revenues from 
property taxes are recognized in the fiscal year for which the taxes are levied; revenue from sales taxes are 
recognized in the fiscal year when the underlying exchange takes place; revenue from grants is recognized 
in the fiscal year in which all eligibility requirements have been satisfied; and revenue from investments is 
recognized when earned. 
 
The Enterprise Fund, a proprietary fund, distinguishes operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating 
items.  The District’s operating revenues are generated directly from its transit operations and consist 
principally of passenger fares.  Operating expenses for the transit operations include all costs related to 
providing transit services.  These costs include labor, fringe benefits, materials, supplies, services, utilities, 
leases and rentals, and depreciation on capital assets.  All other revenues and expenses not meeting these 
definitions are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses. 
 
The Trust, a fiduciary fund, is used to account for assets held by the District as a trustee to pay retiree health 
care premiums. The assets of the Trust cannot be used to support the District’s programs.   
 
Cash Equivalents 
For purposes of the statements of cash flows, the District considers all highly liquid investments with a 
maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents. 
 
Investments 
The District records investment transactions on the trade date.  Investments in nonparticipating interest-
earning investment contracts (e.g. nonnegotiable certificates of deposits and guaranteed investment 
contracts) are reported at cost and all other investments are at fair value.  Fair value is the price that would 
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants 
at the measurement date.  The District measures its investments at fair value and categorizes its fair value 
measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting principles.    As 
a matter of policy, the District usually holds investments until their maturity. 
 
Restricted Assets 
Certain assets are classified as restricted assets on the statement of net position because their use is subject 
to externally imposed stipulations, either by certain bond covenants, laws or regulations or provisions of 
debt agreements.   
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Capital Grants/Contributions 
The District receives grants from the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) and other agencies of the U.S. 
Department of Transportation, the State of California, and local transportation funds for the acquisition of 
transit-related equipment, improvements and preventative maintenance.  Capital grants receivables 
represent amounts expected from governmental agencies to reimburse the District for costs incurred for 
capital projects (Notes 8 and 9) and are reported as Government receivables on the Statement of Net 
Position. 
 
Materials and Supplies 
Materials and supplies consist primarily of replacement parts for the system and rail vehicles, which are 
stated at cost using the average-cost method.  Materials and supplies are expensed as consumed. 
 
Bond Discounts, Premiums and Losses on Refunding 
The bond discounts, premiums and losses on refunding, are deferred and amortized over the term of the 
bonds as a component of interest expense.  The unamortized portion of these items, except the losses on 
refunding, which are reported as deferred outflows of resources, are presented as a reduction of the face 
amount of bonds payable. 
 
Capital Assets 
Capital assets are stated at cost or at fair value of donated assets, and depreciated using the straight-line 
method over the estimated useful lives of the assets ranging from 3 to 80 years.  The District’s policy is to 
capitalize acquisitions of capital assets with a cost of $5,000 or more and a useful life of more than one 
year, and all costs related to capital projects, regardless of amounts.  Upon disposition, costs and 
accumulated depreciation/amortization are removed from the accounts and resulting gains or losses are 
included in operations. 
 
The District capitalizes as intangible capital assets, internally generated intangibles such as computer 
software.  Easements and rights-of-way are capitalized and recorded as part of land and are not amortized 
as they have indefinite useful lives while computer software is amortized over a period of 20 years. 
 
Major improvements and betterments to existing facilities and equipment are capitalized.  Costs for 
maintenance and repairs that do not extend the useful life of the applicable assets are charged to expense as 
incurred.  The District capitalizes certain interest income and expense related to tax-free borrowings until 
the assets are ready for their intended use.  The amount capitalized is the difference between the interest 
revenue and interest expense associated with the applicable tax-free borrowings.  Amounts capitalized were 
net interest expense of $13,029,000 in fiscal year 2016 and $20,058,000 in fiscal year 2015. 
 
Unearned Revenue 
Unearned revenue consists of (1) prepayments of revenues related to license fees paid by 
telecommunication companies for the use of the District’s right of way for wireless accessibility to their 
customers; (2) estimated passenger tickets sold but unused; (3) advances received from grant agreements; 
(4) prepayments of ground lease revenues (Note 15); and (5) value of property received in exchange for the 
District’s property not yet transferred at the end of the fiscal year. 
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Compensated Absences 
Compensated absences are reported and accrued as a liability in the period incurred. Compensated absences 
have a total balance of $61,169,000 as of June 30, 2016 and $62,063,000 as of June 30, 2015 and are shown 
in the statements of net position in accounts payable and other liabilities (see Note 5) as follows (dollar 
amounts in thousands): 
 


 
 
Pollution Remediation 
The recognition of pollution remediation obligations (including contamination) address the current or 
potential detrimental effects of existing pollution by estimating costs associated with participating in 
pollution remediation activities, such as site assessments and cleanups.  There are no known material 
remediation obligations that the District is currently or potentially involved in.  
 
Net Position 
Net investment in capital assets include capital assets net of accumulated depreciation and outstanding 
principal balances of debt attributable to the acquisition, construction or improvement of those assets.  Net 
position is restricted when constraints are imposed by third parties or by law through constitutional 
provisions or enabling legislation and include amounts restricted for debt service and other liabilities.  All 
other net position is unrestricted.  Generally, the District’s policy is to spend restricted resources first when 
an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted net position is available. 
 
Transactions and Use Tax (Sales Tax) Revenues 
The State of California legislation authorizes the District to impose a 0.5% transaction and use tax within 
District boundaries, which is collected and administered by the State Board of Equalization.  Of the amounts 
available for distribution, 75% is paid directly to the District for the purpose of paying operating expenses, 
except for the portion that is paid directly to trustees to cover principal and interest payments of maturing 
sales tax revenue bonds.  The remaining 25% is allocated by the Metropolitan Transportation Commission 
(MTC) to the District, the City and County of San Francisco, and the Alameda-Contra Costa Transit District 
for transit services.  The District records the total transactions and use taxes earned (including amounts paid 
to the trustees) as nonoperating revenue. 
 
Property Taxes, Collection and Maximum Rates 
The State of California Constitution Article XIII.A provides that the general purpose maximum property 
tax rate on any given property may not exceed 1% of its assessed value unless an additional amount for 
general obligation debt has been approved by voters.  Assessed value is calculated at 100% of market value 
as defined by Article XIII.A and may be adjusted by no more than 2% per year, unless the property is sold 
or transferred.  The State Legislature has determined the method of distribution of receipts from a 1% tax 
levy among the counties, cities, school districts and other districts, such as the District. 
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The District receives an allocation of property tax revenues for transit operations.  Additionally, beginning 
in fiscal year 2006, the District received property tax allocations for the debt service payments on the 2005, 
2007, 2013 and 2015 General Obligation Bonds.  As required by the law of the State of California, the 
District utilizes the services of each of the three BART Counties of Alameda, Contra Costa and San 
Francisco for the assessment and collection of taxes for District purposes.  District taxes are collected at the 
same time and on the same tax rolls as county, school district and other special district taxes. Property taxes 
are recorded as revenue in the fiscal year of levy.  Assessed values are determined annually by the 
Assessor’s Offices of City and County of San Francisco, County of Alameda and County of Contra Costa 
on January l, and become a lien on the real properties at January 1. The levy date for secured and unsecured 
properties is July 1 of each year. Secured taxes are due November l and February 1 and are delinquent if 
not paid by December 10 and April 10, respectively. Unsecured property tax is due on July 1 and becomes 
delinquent after August 31. 
 
Operating Financial Assistance 
Financial assistance grants for operations from federal, state and local agencies are reported as nonoperating 
revenue in the period in which all eligibility requirements have been satisfied (Notes 8 and 9). 
 
Collective Bargaining 
Approximately 86% of the District’s employees are subject to collective bargaining.  The current bargaining 
units consist of the following: 


 American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees (AFSCME), Local 3993 
 Amalgamated Transit Union (ATU), Local 1555 
 Service Employees International Union (SEIU), Local 1021 
 BART Police Officers Association (BPOA) 
 BART Police Managers Association (BPMA) 


 
Capitalized Costs 
The District initially charges employee salaries, wages and benefits to operating expenses by functional 
expense category.  Labor costs included in those amounts that are associated with capital projects are 
subsequently adjusted to be included in the cost of the related capital asset. This adjustment is reflected in 
the statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position as a reduction of operating expenses.  The 
amounts of $74,762,000 and $63,315,000 were capitalized during the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, 
respectively. 
 
Pensions 
For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources, and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the 
District’s Pension Plans (Plans) and additions to/deductions from the Plans’ fiduciary net position have 
been determined on the same basis as they are reported by California Public Employees’ Retirement System 
(CalPERS). For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are 
recognized when currently due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms.  
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Use of Estimates 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain 
reported amounts and disclosures.  Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
Reclassification and Presentation 
Certain reclassifications of prior year’s balances have been made to conform with the current year 
presentation.  The reclassifications have no effect on the financial position, results of operations, or cash 
flows. 
 
New Accounting Pronouncements Adopted 
In February 2015, GASB issued Statement No. 72, Fair Value Measurement and Application, which is 
intended to improve accounting and financial reporting for state and local governments’ investments by 
enhancing the comparability of financial statements among governments by requiring measurements of 
certain assets and liabilities at fair value using a consistent and more detailed definition of fair value and 
accepted valuation techniques.  The statement also requires that donated capital assets, works of art and 
similar assets and capital assets received in service concession agreements be reported at acquisition value 
rather than fair value.  Please refer to Note 2 for more information. 


In June 2015, GASB issued Statement No. 73, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions and 
Related Assets That Are Not Within the Scope of GASB Statements 68 and Amendments to Certain 
Provisions of GASB Statements 67 and 68 (GASB 73), which establishes requirements for defined benefit 
pensions that are not within the scope of GASB Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for 
Pensions (GASB 68), as well as for the assets accumulated for the purposes of providing those pensions.  
GASB 73 amends certain provisions of GASB Statement No. 67, Financial Reporting for Pension Plans, 
and GASB 68 for pension plans and pensions that are within their respective scopes.  GASB 73 addresses 
the recognition of the total pension liability of such plans and the disclosures necessary for the plans that 
did not meet the definition of GASB 68.  This statement did not have a significant impact to the District’s 
financial statements. 


In June 2015, GASB issued Statement No. 76, The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 
(GAAP) for State and Local Governments (GASB 76), which clarifies the hierarchy of GAAP and reduces 
the GAAP hierarchy to two categories of authoritative GAAP and addresses the use of authoritative and 
nonauthoritative literature in the event that the accounting treatment for a transaction or other event is not 
specified within the scope of authoritative GAAP. This statement did not have a significant impact to the 
District’s financial statements. 
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In December 2015, the GASB issued Statement No. 79, Certain External Investment Pools and Pool 
Participants (GASB 79). This statement establishes criteria for an external investment pool to qualify for 
making the election to measure all investments at amortized cost for financial reporting purposes.  Pool 
participants should also measure their investments at amortized cost if the external pool meets these criteria. 
This statement establishes additional note disclosure requirements for qualifying external investment pools 
that measure all of their investments at amortized cost and for governments that participate in those pools. 
The requirements of this statement are effective for the District’s fiscal year ended June 30, 2016, except 
for provisions on portfolio quality, custodial credit risk and shadow pricing.  Those provisions are effective 
for the District’s fiscal year ended June 30, 2017.   This statement did not have a significant impact to the 
District’s financial statements. 
 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements That Have Not Been Adopted 
In June 2015, GASB issued Statement No. 74, Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefit Plans Other 
Than Pension Plans (GASB 74), which establishes new accounting and financial reporting requirements 
for Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) plans, as well as for certain nonemployer governments that 
have a legal obligation to provide financial support to OPEB provided to the employees of other entities.  
GASB 74 also includes requirements to address financial reporting for assets accumulated for purposes of 
providing defined benefit OPEB through OPEB plans that are not administered through trusts that meet the 
specified criteria.  GASB 74 is effective for the District’s fiscal year ending June 30, 2017. 


In June 2015, GASB issued Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment 
Benefits Other Than Pensions (GASB 75), which establishes new accounting and financial reporting 
requirements for governments whose employees are provided with OPEB plans improving the accounting 
and financial reporting by state and local governments for OPEB and provides information provided by 
state and local government employers about financial support for OPEB that is provided by other entities.  
The statement replaces the requirements of Statement No. 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by 
Employers for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions and Statement No. 57, OPEB Measurements 
by Agent Employers and Agent Multiple-Employer Plans.  GASB 75 is effective for the District’s fiscal 
year ending June 30, 2018. 


In August 2015, GASB issued Statement No. 77, Tax Abatement Disclosures (GASB 77), which requires 
governments that enter into tax abatement agreements to disclose additional information about the 
agreements including a brief descriptive information, the gross dollar amount of taxes abated during the 
period, and commitments made by a government, other than to abate taxes, as part of a tax abatement 
agreement.  GASB 77 is effective for the District’s fiscal year ending June 30, 2017. 


In December 2015, the GASB issued Statement No. 78, Pensions Provided through Certain Multiple-
Employer Defined Benefit Pension Plans (GASB 78). The objective of this statement is to address a practice 
issue regarding the scope and applicability of GASB 78 associated with pensions provided through certain 
cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plans and to state or local governmental employers 
whose employees are provided with such pensions.  Such plans are not considered a state or local 
government pension plan and are used to provide benefits to both employees of state and local governments 
and employees of employers that are not state or local governments. GASB  78 is effective for the District’s 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2017. 
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In January 2016, GASB issued Statement No. 80, Blending Requirements for Certain Component Units – 
an amendment of GASB Statement No. 14 (GASB 80), to improve financial reporting by clarifying the 
financial statement presentation requirements for certain component units.  This statement amends the 
blending requirements for the financial statement presentation of component units of all state and local 
governments, which was established in paragraph 53 of Statement No. 14, The Financial Reporting Entity.  
GASB 80 is effective for the District’s fiscal year ending June 30, 2017. 


In March 2016, GASB issued Statement No. 81, Irrevocable Split-Interest Agreements (GASB 81), to 
improve accounting and financial reporting for irrevocable split-interest agreements by providing 
recognition and measurement guidance for situations in which a government is a beneficiary of the 
agreement.  This statement requires that a government that receives resources pursuant to an irrevocable 
split-interest agreement recognize revenues, assets, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources.  GASB 81 
is effective for the District’s fiscal year ending June 30, 2018. 


In March 2016, GASB issued Statement No. 82, Pension Issues – an amendment of GASB Statements No. 
67, No. 68, and No. 73 (GASB 82), to address certain issues that have been raised with respect to Statements 
No. 67, Financial Reporting for Pension Plans, No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions, 
and No. 73, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions and Related Assets That Are Not within the 
Scope of GASB Statement 68, and Amendments to Certain Provisions of GASB Statements 67 and 68.  The 
statement addresses issues regarding (1) the presentation of payroll-related measures in required 
supplementary information, (2) the selection of assumptions and the treatment of deviations from the 
guidance in Actuarial Standards of Practice for financial reporting purposes, and (3) the classification of 
payments made by employers to satisfy employee (plan member) contribution requirements.  GASB 82 is 
effective for the District’s fiscal year ending June 30, 2017. 
 


2. Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments 
 
A. Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments of the Enterprise Fund 
 
Cash, cash equivalents and investments are reported in the Enterprise Fund as follows (dollar amounts in 
thousands):  
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Investment Policy 
The California Public Utilities Code, Section 29100, and the California Government Code (CGC), Section 
53601, provide the basis for the District’s investment policy.  To meet the objectives of the investment 
policy – (1) preservation of capital, (2) liquidity, and (3) yield – the investment policy, approved by the 
Board of Directors, specifically identifies the types of permitted investments, as well as any maturity limits 
and other restrictions.  The following table presents the authorized investment, requirements, and 
restrictions per the CGC and the District’s investment policy: 
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Investments Authorized by Debt Agreements 
 
The District must maintain required amounts of cash and investments with fiscal agents under the terms of 
certain debt issues. These funds are unexpended bond proceeds and funds set aside for debt service.  The 
table below identifies the investment types that are authorized for investments held by fiscal agents.  The 
table also identifies certain provisions of these debt agreements: 
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Interest Rate Risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market rates will adversely affect the fair value of an investment.  
One of the District’s primary objectives is to provide sufficient liquidity to meet its cash outflow needs, 
however, the District does not have any policies specifically addressing interest rate risk, except as outlined 
in the CGC.  A summary of investments by type of investments and by segmented time distribution as of 
June 30, 2016 and 2015 is as follows (dollar amounts in thousands):  


 


* weighted-average maturity 







SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT 
  Notes to Financial Statements 


June 30, 2016 and 2015 
 
 


2. Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments (Continued) 
 


32 


Credit Risk 
The District’s credit rating risk is governed by Section 53601 of the CGC which, among others, limits 
investments in money market mutual funds to those funds with the highest evaluations granted by the rating 
agencies, which is AAAm.  The District has investments in U.S. Treasury and government agencies, bank 
repurchase agreements (underlying of U.S. Treasury securities and others), and in money market mutual 
funds.  There are no investment limits on the securities of U.S. Treasury or certain U.S. government 
agencies that are backed by the full faith and credit of the United States government.  The following is a 
summary of the credit quality distribution for securities with credit exposure as rated by Standard & Poor’s, 
Fitch Ratings and/or Moody’s as of June 30, 2016 and 2015 (dollar amounts in thousands):  
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Fair Value Hierarchy 
The District categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally 
accepted accounting principles.  The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure fair value 
of the assets.  Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in an active market for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are 
significant other observable inputs; and Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs (the District does 
not value any of its investments using Level 3 inputs). 
 
All of the District’s investments fall under the Marketable/Actively traded assets category.   The custodian 
banks rely on the pricing by nationally known vendors.  In the event that a particular category is not priced 
by the primary pricing vendor, the custodian banks engage a secondary vendor or other sources.   


The following is a summary of the fair value of investments of the District as of June 30, 2016 and June 
30, 2015 (dollar amounts in thousands): 


 
 


Investments valued at $173,968,000 in fiscal year 2016 and $0 in fiscal year 2015 are classified in Level 1 
of the fair value hierarchy.   This asset category mainly consists of U.S Treasury Notes which are valued 
using Institutional Bond quotes, i.e., quoted market prices in active markets.   


Total investments valued at $676,541,000 in fiscal year 2016 and $816,902,000 in fiscal year 2015 are 
classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.  Fair value was determined using Matrix Pricing techniques 
maintained by various pricing vendors.  Matrix pricing is used to value securities based on the securities’ 
relationship to benchmark quoted prices.    
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Concentration of Credit Risk 
The District does not have a policy to limit investments in any one issuer to no more than 5% of the total 
portfolio.  However, the CGC Section 53601.7 requires that investments in one issuer do not exceed 5% of 
the entity’s total portfolio at the time of purchase, except obligations of the United States government, 
United States government agencies, and United States government-sponsored enterprises, and no more than 
10% of the entity’s total portfolio may be invested in any one mutual fund at the time of purchase.  At June 
30, 2016 and 2015, the District did not have investments that exceed 5% of the District’s total investment 
portfolio.  


Custodial Credit Risk - Deposits 
For deposits, custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the District’s deposits may 
not be returned.  The CGC Section 53652 requires California banks and savings and loan associations to 
secure governmental deposits by pledging government securities as collateral.  The market value of pledged 
securities must equal at least 110% of the District’s deposits.  California law also allows financial 
institutions to secure governmental deposits by pledging first trust deed mortgage notes having a value of 
150% of the District’s total deposits. Such collateral is considered to be held in the District’s name. 
 
Custodial Credit Risk - Investments 
For investments, custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a failure of the counterparty, the District 
may not be able to recover the value of its investments.  The exposure to the District is limited as the 
District’s investments are held in the District’s name by a third-party safe-keeping custodian that is separate 
from the counterparty or in the custody of a trust department, as required by bond covenants. 


B.  Investments of the Retiree Health Benefit Trust  
 
Investment Policy 
The investment objective of the Trust is to achieve consistent long-term growth for the Trust and to 
maximize income consistent with the preservation of capital for the sole and exclusive purpose of providing 
benefits to participants and their beneficiaries and defraying reasonable expenses of administering the Trust.  
The District’s Board of Directors establishes the general investment policy and guidelines for the Trust. 
Allowable investments under the Trust investment guidelines include: 
 


 Cash equivalents such as U.S. Treasury bills, money market trusts, short-term interest fund (STIF) 
trusts, commercial paper rated A1/P1, banker’s acceptances, certificates of deposits and repurchase 
agreements; 


 Fixed income securities, which include U.S. agency and corporation bonds (including Yankees) 
and preferred stock and Rule 144A issues, and mortgage or asset-backed securities; and 


 Equity securities, including U.S. traded common, preferred stocks and convertible stocks and 
bonds, including American Depository Receipts. 
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Interest rate risk 
The Trust’s investment policies mitigate exposure to changes in interest rates by requiring that the assets 
of the Trust be invested in accordance with the following asset allocation guidelines: 
 


 


Fixed income securities have the following maturity restrictions: (1) maximum maturity for any single 
security is 40 years, and (2) the weighted average portfolio maturity may not exceed 25 years. 


A summary of investments by type of investments and by segmented time distribution as of June 30, 2016 
and 2015 is as follows (dollar amounts in thousands): 


* weighted-average maturity 
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* weighted-average maturity 
 
Credit Risk 
The Trust’s credit risk policy is defined in its Statement of Investment Policy approved by the District’s 
Board of Directors.  The policy states that the Board recognizes that some risk is necessary to produce long-
term investment results that are sufficient to meet the Trust’s objectives and that the Trust’s investment 
managers are expected to make reasonable efforts to control risk.  The investment policy requires that all 
of the Trust’s assets be invested in liquid securities, defined as securities that can be transacted quickly and 
efficiently for the Trust, with minimal impact on market prices.  The investment policy also demands that 
no single investment shall exceed five percent of the total Trust assets, at market value, except obligations 
of the U.S. government, short-term money market funds, index funds and other diversified commingled 
accounts; and for actively managed equity accounts, where, for issues that comprise more than 4% of the 
account’s stated benchmark, the limit shall be 125% of the weight of the common stock benchmark.  
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The following is a summary of the credit quality distribution for securities with credit exposure as rated by 
Standard & Poor’s and/or Moody’s as of June 30, 2016 and 2015 (dollar amounts in thousands): 


 


Fair Value Hierarchy 
The Trust categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally 
accepted accounting principles.  The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure fair value 
of the assets.  Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in an active market for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are 
significant other observable inputs; and Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs (the Trust does 
not value any of its investments using Level 3 inputs). 
  
All of the Trust investments fall under the Marketable/Actively traded assets category.   The custodian bank 
relies on the pricing by nationally known vendors.  In the event that a particular category is not priced by 
the primary pricing vendor, the custodian bank engages a secondary vendor or other sources.  
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The following is a summary of the fair value hierarchy of the fair value of investments of the Trust as of 
June 30, 2016 and June 30, 2015 (dollar amount in thousands): 


 


Investments classified in Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy valued at $148,123,000 and $122,308,000 in 
fiscal year 2016 and 2015, respectively, are valued using quoted prices in active markets 


Investments amounting to $53,647,000 in fiscal year 2016 and $53,002,000 in fiscal year 2015 are classified 
under Level 2 of the fair market value hierarchy and are valued using Matrix pricing, which is used to value 
securities based on the securities’ relationship to benchmark quoted prices.   


Mutual fund-equity totaling $45,701,000 and $46,704,000 in 2016 and 2015, respectively, are valued using 
the Net Asset Value (NAV) methodology.  Per GASB72, the government entity should be permitted to 
calculate the fair value of certain investments that do not have a readily determinable fair value using a 
practical expedient method based on the investment’s NAV per share. A mutual fund may include several 
different underlying investments.  The NAV is derived from the value of these investments, accrued 
income, anticipated cash flows (maturities), management fees and other fund expenses.  Certain 
investments within the fund may be deemed unobservable and not readily determined in an active market. 


Concentration of Credit Risk 
The Trust’s investment policies mitigate exposure to concentration of credit risk by diversifying the 
portfolio and limiting investments in any one issuer to no more than 5% of the total portfolio. 
 
Custodial Credit Risk – Investments 
For investments, custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a failure of the counterparty, the Trust 
may not be able to recover the value of its investments.  The exposure to the Trust is limited as the Trust’s 
investments are in the custody of a third-party custodian that is separate from the counterparty.
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The District reports the following aggregated accounts as receivables and other assets in the statements of 
net position as of June 30, 2016 and 2015 (dollar amounts in thousands): 
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4. Capital Assets 


Changes to capital assets during the year ended June 30, 2016 were as follows (dollar amounts in 
thousands): 
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4. Capital Assets (Continued) 
 
Changes to capital assets during the year ended June 30, 2015 were as follows (dollar amounts in 
thousands): 


 
After the completion of the San Francisco International Airport Extension in 2004, which added 38 miles 
of track and 10 new stations to the system, the District embarked on three expansion projects, which include 
the East Contra Costa BART Extension (eBART) in Contra Costa County, the Oakland Airport Connector 
(OAC) in Alameda County and the Warm Springs Extension (WSX) also in Alameda County.  Expected 
completion date for WSX is in early 2017 and eBART is expected to be completed in spring of 2018.  
 
The Warm Springs Extension Project (WSX) is a 5.4-mile BART extension south from the Fremont BART 
Station into the Warm Springs District of Fremont. There were two major construction contracts for WSX, 
the Fremont Central Park Subway Construction Contract (Subway) and the Design-Build Line, Track, 
Station and Systems Contract (LTSS). The Subway contract, which constructed a cut and cover subway 
structure through Fremont Central Park and beneath a portion of Lake Elizabeth and the operating Union 
Pacific Rail Road (UPRR) freight track along the park’s east side, was completed in 2013. The LTSS 
contract includes the final design and construction of the Warm Springs / South Fremont Station, the 
remaining trackway including the tie-in at the Fremont Station, and the transit systems (traction power, 
electrification, train control, and communications) for the entire extension, and provisions for a future 
station in Irvington.  The WSX is projected to commence revenue service in January 2017.   
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4.  Capital Assets (Continued) 
 
The construction of the District’s OAC project was substantially completed in 2014 and revenue operations 
started on November 22, 2014.  In fiscal year 2015, $410,067,000 and $18,804,000 for fiscal year 2016 in 
capitalized costs related to OAC were reclassified from construction in progress to land and easements and 
other  depreciable assets.  The development agreement between the District and the Port of Oakland (Port) 
for the 3.2 mile Automated Guideway Transit extension to the Oakland Airport calls for the transfer of Port-
funded components to the Port, including On-Airport Components of the OAC which are wholly or partially 
paid for with Passenger Facility Charges (PFCs). The Port pays the District based on PFCs collected.  As 
of June 30, 2016, the unpaid balance amounted to $2,793,000 and is shown as part of government 
receivables.  In fiscal year 2015, the District recognized the transfer of $43,900,000 worth of capital assets 
to the Port. 
 
The District has entered into contracts for the construction of various facilities and equipment totaling 
approximately $2,700,000,000 at June 30, 2016 and $2,022,590,000 at June 30, 2015. 
 


5. Accounts Payable and Other Liabilities 


The District reports the following aggregated payables as accounts payable and other liabilities in the 
statements of net position as of June 30, 2016 and 2015 (dollar amounts in thousands): 
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6. Long-Term Debt 


Long-term debt activity for the year ended June 30, 2016 is summarized as follows (dollar amounts in 
thousands):  
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6. Long-Term Debt (Continued) 


Long-term debt activity for the year ended June 30, 2015 is summarized as follows (dollar amounts in 
thousands): 
 


 
 
2005 Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds (the 2005 Refunding Bonds) 
In August 2005, the District issued the Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, Refunding Series 2005A totaling 
$352,095,000.  The 2005 Refunding Bonds were used to advance refund $349,925,000 in aggregate 
principal amount of sales tax revenue bonds related to the Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, Series 1995, 1998, 
1999, and 2001.  The 2005 Refunding Bonds are special obligations of the District, payable from and 
collateralized by a pledge of sales tax revenues.  In October 2015, the remaining outstanding balance of 
$231,250,000 were refunded from the proceeds of the 2015 Series A Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds. 
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6. Long-Term Debt (Continued) 


2006 Sales Tax Revenue Bonds (the 2006 Bonds) 
In June 2006, the District issued Sales Tax Revenue Bonds with an aggregate principal amount of 
$64,915,000 to finance a portion of the cost of construction of a new transit station, the West 
Dublin/Pleasanton Station, including two parking facilities, pedestrian bridges, a bus intermodal facility 
and related improvements.  The 2006 Bonds are special obligations of the District payable from and secured 
by a pledge of sales tax revenues.  In October 2012, the 2006 Bonds with principal amounts totaling 
$63,615,000 were refunded from the proceeds of the 2012 Series A Refunding Bonds. In October 2015, the 
remaining outstanding balance of $720,000 were refunded from the proceeds of the 2015 Series A Sales 
Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds. 
 
2006 Series A Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds (the 2006A Refunding Bonds) 
On November 30, 2006, the District issued the 2006 Series A Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds, with a 
principal amount of $108,110,000 to advance refund a portion of the 2001 Bonds with an aggregate 
principal amount of $102,560,000.  The 2006A Refunding Bonds are special obligations of the District, 
payable from and secured by a pledge of sales tax revenues.  At June 30, 2016, the 2006A Refunding Bonds 
consist of serial bonds amounting to $41,270,000 due from 2017 to 2028 with interest rates ranging from 
4.0% to 5.0%, and term bonds totaling $54,570,000 of various maturity dates from 2029 to 2037 with an 
interest rate of 4.25%.  The term bonds are subject to redemption in part, by lot, from mandatory sinking 
account payments required by the indenture on certain dates, at the principal amount of the 2006A 
Refunding Bonds to be redeemed plus accrued interest, if any, to the redemption date.   


 
2010 Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds (the 2010 Refunding Bonds) 
On May 5, 2010, the District issued the 2010 Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds, with a principal amount 
of $129,595,000 to provide sufficient funds to refund a portion of the 1998 Bonds with an aggregate 
principal amount of $143,825,000, to fund a deposit to the 2010 Refunding Bonds Reserve Account in the 
bond reserve fund and to pay costs of issuance of the 2010 Refunding Bonds.  The District funded from its 
own funds the Bond Reserve Fund in the amount of $14,202,000.  The 2010 Refunding Bonds are special 
obligations of the District, payable from and secured by a pledge of sales tax revenues.  At June 30, 2016, 
the 2010 Refunding Bonds consist of serial bonds amounting to $121,065,000 with interest rates ranging 
from 4.0% to 5.0%, with various maturity dates from 2017 to 2029.   
 
2012 Series A Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds (the 2012A Refunding Bonds) 
On October 4, 2012, the District issued the 2012 Series A Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds, with a 
principal amount of $130,475,000 and a premium of $23,439,000 to provide sufficient funds, along with 
$10,690,000 in other District funds, to refund $51,605,000 principal amount of the Association of Bay Area 
Governments BART SFO Extension Bond (Airport Premium Fare), 2002A Bonds, to refund the remaining 
balance of the 2001 Bonds with an aggregate principal amount of $41,745,000, to refund $63,615,000 
principal amount of the 2006 Bonds, and to fund costs of issuance of the 2012A Refunding Bonds.  The 
2012A Refunding Bonds are special obligations of the District, payable from and secured by a pledge of 
sales tax revenues.  At June 30, 2016, the 2012A Refunding Bonds consist of serial bonds amounting to 
$88,970,000 with interest rates ranging from 4.0% to 5.0% with various maturity dates from 2017 to 2033, 
and a term bond with interest rate of 5% in the amount of $32,335,000 due in 2037.   
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6. Long-Term Debt (Continued) 


2012 Series B Sales Tax Revenue Bonds (the 2012B Bonds) 
On October 4, 2012, the District issued the 2012 Series B Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, with a principal 
amount of $111,085,000 to provide financing for the Oakland International Airport Connector Project and 
to fund the costs of issuance. The 2012B Bonds are special obligations of the District, payable from and 
secured by a pledge of sales tax revenues.  At June 30, 2016, the 201B Bonds consist of serial bonds 
amounting to $18,745,000 with interest rates ranging from 1.041% to 2.677% with various maturity dates 
from 2017 to 2023, a term bond in the amount of $15,670,000 with interest rate of 3.477% due in 2028, a 
term bond in the amount of $18,815,000 with interest rate of 4.087% due in 2033 and a term bond in the 
amount of $51,540,000 with interest rate of 4.287% due in 2043. 
 
2015 Series A Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds (the 2015A Refunding Bonds) 
In October 2015, the District issued the 2015 Series A Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds, with a 
principal amount of $186,640,000 and a premium of $31,350,000, along with other District funds, to 
provide sufficient funds to (1) refund $231,250,000 principal amount of the District’s 2005 Refunding 
Bonds; (2) refund $720,000 principal amount of the District’s 2006 Bonds; and (3) fund costs of issuance 
associated with the 2015A Refunding Bonds.  The 2015A Refunding Bonds are special obligations of the 
District, payable from and secured by a pledge of Sales Tax Revenues derived from a transaction and use 
tax levied by the District in Alameda and Contra Costa Counties and the City and County of San Francisco.  
At June 30, 2016, the 2015A Refunding Bonds consist of serial bonds amounting to $186,640,000 with 
interest rates ranging from 2.0% to 5.0%, with various maturity dates from 2017 to 2035.  The refunding 
resulted in economic gain of $41,601,000 and cash flow savings of $59,633,000. 
 
2005 General Obligation Bonds (the 2005 GO Bonds) 
In May 2005, the District issued the 2005 Series A General Obligation Bonds (Elections 2004), with an 
aggregate principal amount of $100,000,000. The 2005 GO Bonds constitute a portion of the total 
authorized amount of $980,000,000 of general obligation bonds of the District duly authorized by at least 
two-thirds of the qualified voters of the District voting on a ballot measure (“Measure AA”) at an election 
held on November 2, 2004. The 2005 GO Bonds constitute the first issue of general obligation bonds being 
issued pursuant to the Measure AA authorization.  
 
The 2005 GO Bonds were issued to finance earthquake safety improvements to BART facilities, including 
aerial trackway structures, underground trackway structures, including the Transbay Tube, and at-grade 
trackway structures, stations, and administrative, maintenance, and operations facilities and to finance 
additional retrofits to facilitate a rapid return to service after an earthquake or other disasters. The 2005 GO 
Bonds are general obligations of the District, payable from and secured solely by ad valorem taxes upon all 
property subject to taxation by the District, without limitation as to rate or amount (except for certain 
personal property which is taxable at limited rates) levied in Alameda and Contra Costa Counties and the 
City and County of San Francisco. No other revenues of the District are pledged to the payment of the 2005 
GO Bonds. In October 2015, the remaining outstanding balance of $34,680,000 were refunded from the 
proceeds of the 2015 GO Bonds. 
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6. Long-Term Debt (Continued) 


2007 General Obligation Bonds (the 2007 GO Bonds) 
On July 25, 2007, the District issued the 2007 Series B General Obligation Bonds (Election of 2004), with 
a principal amount of $400,000,000. The 2007 GO Bonds constitute the second issue of general obligation 
bonds being issued pursuant to the Measure AA authorization as discussed in the preceding paragraph 
regarding the 2005 GO Bonds. Similar to the 2005 GO Bonds, the 2007 GO Bonds were issued to finance 
earthquake safety improvements to BART facilities in the three BART Counties, including strengthening 
tunnels, bridges, overhead tracks and the underwater Transbay Tube. The 2007 GO Bonds are general 
obligations of the District payable from and secured solely by ad valorem taxes upon all property subject 
to taxation by the District levied in Alameda and Contra Costa Counties and the City and County of San 
Francisco. No other revenues of the District are pledged to the payment of the 2007 GO Bonds. In October 
2015, a portion of the 2007 GO Bonds, in the amount of $265,735,000, were advance refunded from the 
proceeds of the 2015D GO Bonds. At June 30, 2016, the 2007 GO Bonds consist of $24,715,000 in serial 
bonds due from 2017 to 2022 with interest rates ranging from 4.00% to 5.00%, and two term bonds totaling 
$76,430,000 due in 2037 ($36,755,000) and 2038 ($39,675,000), with interest rate of 5.00%. The term 
bonds maturing in 2037 and 2038 are subject to mandatory sinking fund redemptions starting in 2037.  
 
2013 General Obligation Bonds, Series C (the 2013 GO Bonds) 
On November 21, 2013, the District issued the 2013 Series C General Obligation Bonds, with a principal 
amount of $240,000,000. The 2013 GO Bonds are general obligations of the District, payable from and 
secured solely by ad valorem taxes upon all property subject to taxation by the District, without limitation 
as to rate or amount (except for certain personal property which is taxable at limited rates) levied in Alameda 
and Contra Costa Counties and the City and County of San Francisco.  No other revenues of the District 
are pledged to the payment of the 2013 GO Bonds. The 2013 GO Bonds constitute the third issue of general 
obligation bonds issued pursuant to the Measure AA authorization to provide financing for earthquake 
safety improvements to District facilities in the Three District Counties, including strengthening tunnels, 
bridges, overhead tracks, the underwater Transbay Tube and the Berkeley Hills Tunnel.  
 
At June 30, 2016, the 2013 GO Bonds consist of $205,420,000 in serial bonds due from 2018 to 2034 with 
interest ranging from 3.0% to 5.00%, and term bonds totaling $20,125,000 due in 2038. The serial bonds 
maturing on or after August 1, 2024 are subject to redemption prior to their respective stated maturities, at 
the option of the District, from any source of available funds, as a whole or in part, on any date on or after 
August 1, 2023, at the principal amount called for redemption, without premium, plus accrued interest. The 
term bonds are also subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption on August 1 beginning 2034, at the 
principal amount, without premium, plus accrued interest. 
 
2015 General Obligation Bonds Refunding Series D (the 2015 GO Bonds) 
In October 2015, the District issued the 2015 Series D General Obligation Bonds, with a principal amount 
of $276,805,000 and a premium of $42,300,000.  The 2015 GO Bonds are general obligations of the 
District, payable from and secured solely by ad valorem taxes upon all property subject to taxation by the 
District, without limitation as to rate or amount (except for certain personal property which is taxable at 
limited rates) levied in Alameda and Contra Costa Counties and the City and County of San Francisco.  No 
other revenues of the District are pledged to the payment of the 2015 GO Bonds. The purpose of the 2015 
GO Bonds is to apply the proceeds and refund $34,680,000, principal amount of the District’s 2005 GO 
Bonds and to advance refund $265,735,000 principal amount of the District’s 2007 GO Bonds, and to pay 
costs of issuance of the 2015 GO Bonds.  The refunded bonds were issued to finance earthquake safety 
improvements to the District facilities, including aerial trackway structures, overhead and underground 
trackway structures, stations and administrative, maintenance, and operations facilities, and to finance 
additional retrofits to facilitate rapid return to service after an earthquake or other disasters.
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6. Long-Term Debt (Continued) 
 
At June 30, 2016, the 2015 GO Bonds consist of $276,805,000 in serial bonds due from 2018 to 2036 with 
interest ranging from 3.0% to 5.00%. The serial bonds maturing on or after August 1, 2026 are subject to 
redemption prior to their respective stated maturities, at the option of the District, from any source of 
available funds, as a whole or in part, on any date on or after August 1, 2025, at the principal amount of 
such 2015 GO Bonds called for redemption, together with interest accrued thereon to the date fixed for 
redemption, without premium.  If less than all of the 2015 GO Bonds are called for redemption, the 2015 
GO Bonds shall be redeemed in inverse order of maturities (or as otherwise directed by the District), and if 
less than all of the 2015 GO Bonds of any given maturity are called for redemption, the portions of 2015 
GO Bonds of a given maturity shall be determined by lot. The refunding resulted in economic gain of 
$42,384,000 and cash flow savings of $42,378,000. 
 
After the issuance of the 2005, 2007, 2013, and the 2015 GO Bonds, the remaining General Obligation 
Bonds that can be issued by the District as authorized under Measure AA is $240,000,000. 


Defeased Bonds 
On various dates, the District issued bonds to refund certain outstanding sales tax revenue bonds previously 
issued by the District.  In October 2015, $231,250,000 aggregate principal amount of the District’s 2005 
Refunding Bonds, and $720,000 aggregate principal amount of the 2006 Bonds were refunded from the 
proceeds of the 2015A Refunding Bonds. Also in October 2015, $34,680,000 aggregate principal amount 
of the District’s 2005 GO Bonds, and $265,735,000 aggregate principal amount of the 2007 GO Bonds 
were refunded from the proceeds of the 2015 GO Bonds. 
 
On the above described defeasances, the District placed in irrevocable trusts, the required amounts to pay 
the future debt service payments on the defeased bonds.  The advance refunding met the requirement of the 
in-substance debt defeasance, and the defeased bonds were removed from the District’s long-term debt.  
Accordingly, the trust accounts assets and liabilities for the defeased bonds are not included in the District’s 
financial statements.   
  
The outstanding principal balance of the defeased General Obligation Bonds is $265,735,000 as of June 30, 
2016 and $0 as of June 30, 2015.  There are no outstanding principal balances for the defeased Sales Tax 
Revenue Bonds on June 30, 2016 and 2015. 
 
Arbitrage Bonds 
The District is subject to certain bond covenants, including the rules set forth by IRS Code Section 148a, 
which requires that interest earned on the proceeds of a tax exempt bond issuance does not exceed the 
interest expense related to those bonds, which qualifies those bonds as arbitrage bonds.  Any excess interest 
income is subject to a 100% tax and is payable to the Federal Government.  As of June 30, 2016, the District 
has recorded an estimated arbitrage liability amounting to $4,000 in fiscal year 2016 and 2015, which is 
included in accounts payable and other liabilities in the statements of net position. 
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6. Long-Term Debt (Continued) 
 
Pledge of Revenue to Repay Sales Tax Revenue Bonds 
The District issues sales tax revenue bonds primarily to finance a portion of its capital projects. The sales 
tax revenue bonds are special obligations of the District, payable from and secured by a pledge of sales tax 
revenues derived from a seventy-five percent (75%) portion of a transactions and use tax levied by the 
District in Alameda and Contra Costa Counties and the City and County of San Francisco in an amount 
equal to one-half of one percent (0.5%) of gross retail receipts. The sales tax revenue bonds outstanding as 
of June 30, 2016 consist of the 2006A Refunding Bonds, the 2010 Refunding Bonds, the 2012A Refunding 
Bonds, the 2012B Bonds, and the 2015A Refunding Bonds.  Interest on the sales tax revenue bonds are 
payable on January 1 and July 1 of each year, and the principal on July 1 of the scheduled year until 2043. 
The total principal and interest remaining on these sales tax revenue bonds is $944,309,000 as of June 30, 
2016 ($1,053,070,000 as of June 30, 2015), which is 9.31% in 2016 (10.03% in 2015) of the total projected 
sales tax revenues of $10,145,390,000 as of June 30, 2016 ($10,501,998,000 as of June 30, 2015).  The 
total projected sales tax revenues cover the period from fiscal year 2016 through fiscal year 2043, which is 
the last scheduled bond principal payment.  
 
The pledged sales tax revenues recognized in fiscal year 2016 was $241,547,000 ($233,148,000 in fiscal 
year 2015) as against a total debt service payment of $48,628,000 in fiscal year 2016, and $55,958,000 in 
fiscal year 2015.  
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6. Long-Term Debt (Continued) 
 
Debt Repayments 
The following is a schedule of long-term debt principal and interest payments required as of June 30, 
2016 (dollar amounts in thousands):  
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6. Long-Term Debt (Continued) 
 


 


 


7.  Risk Management 


The District is partially self-insured for workers’ compensation, public liability and property damage 
claims.  The self-insured retention for workers’ compensation is $4,000,000 per accident and the limit of 
liability is $10,000,000.  The self-insured retention for public liability and property damage is $5,000,000 
for any one occurrence.  Claims in excess of self-insured retentions are covered up to a total of $145,000,000 
by insurance policies.  There have been no settlement amounts during the past three years that have 
exceeded the District’s insurance coverage. 
 
The self-insurance programs are administered by independent claims adjustment firms. Claim expenses and 
liabilities are reported when it is probable that a loss has occurred and the amount of that loss can be 
reasonably estimated.  Liabilities are discounted at a 3% rate, in part, upon the independent adjustment 
firms’ estimate of reserves necessary for the settlement of outstanding claims and related administrative 
costs, and include estimates of claims that have been incurred but not yet reported, including loss adjustment 
expenses.  Such reserves are estimated by professional actuaries through June 30 and are subject to periodic 
adjustments as conditions warrant.   
 
The estimated liability for insurance claims at June 30, 2016 is believed to be sufficient to cover any costs 
arising out of claims filed or to be filed for accidents occurring through that date.  At June 30, 2016 
and 2015, the estimated amounts of these liabilities were $53,308,000 and $53,453,000, respectively. 
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7. Risk Management (Continued) 
 
Changes in the reported liabilities since the beginning of the respective fiscal years are as follows (dollar  
amounts in thousands): 


 
 


8. Federal Capital Contributions and Operating Financial Assistance 
 


The U.S. Department of Transportation and other federal agencies provide capital funding to the District 
for construction projects, planning and technical assistance.  Cumulative information for grants which were 
active during the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015 are summarized as follows (dollar amounts in 
thousands): 
 


 
 
The District’s fleet replacement project consisting of construction for the A, B, C1 and C2 fleet replacement 
was formally launched in 2013.  To set aside funding for this program, the District and MTC, on May 24, 
2006, entered into the BART Car Replacement Funding Exchange Agreement.  Under the agreement, MTC 
agrees to program federal funds to eligible BART projects that are ready to be delivered within the year of 
MTC’s programming action.  In exchange for MTC programming funds for ready-to-go BART projects, 
the District will deposit an equal amount of local unrestricted funds into a restricted account established to 
fund BART’s car replacement program.  MTC is the exclusive administrator of the restricted account and 
any withdrawal of funds from the account requires prior approval from the MTC Commission and the 
District’s Board.  In accordance with the agreement, MTC allocated Federal Section 5307 and 5337 Grants 
for $50,176,000 in fiscal year 2016 and $74,168,000 in fiscal year 2015 to fund the District’s preventive 
maintenance expenses.  The District remitted to MTC the full amount of $50,176,000 in fiscal year 2016 
and $74,168,000 in fiscal year 2015, the equivalent amount of its own funds, which were deposited by MTC 
to the restricted account.  The federal grant is shown as nonoperating revenue – operating financial 
assistance and the District’s remittance to MTC is shown as nonoperating expense in the District’s financial 
statements.  The restricted account for BART’s car replacement program held by MTC, which is excluded 
from the District’s financial statements, reported a balance of $327,340,000 as of June 30, 2016 and 
$275,988,000 as of June 30, 2015. 
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9. State and Local Operating and Capital Financial Assistance 
 
The District is eligible to receive local operating and capital assistance from the Transportation 
Development Act Funds (TDA). There was no TDA capital and operating assistance received in fiscal years 
2016 or 2015.  The District may be entitled to receive state operating and capital assistance from the State 
Transit Assistance Funds (STA).  These funds are allocated by MTC based on the ratio of the District’s 
transit operation revenue and local support to the revenue and local support of all state transit agencies.  
The District was awarded STA operating allocations, which amounted to $219,000 in fiscal year 2011, 
$490,000 in fiscal year 2013, $99,000 in fiscal year 2014, $17,697,000 in fiscal year 2015 and $15,429,000 
in fiscal 2016. Of these allocations, $11,253,000 was earned in fiscal year 2016 and $18,081,000 was earned 
in fiscal year 2015.  
 
The District also received STA capital allocations amounting to $1,170,000 awarded in fiscal year 2004, 
$752,000 awarded in 2011 and $328,000 awarded in fiscal year 2015.  For the STA capital allocations, $0 
was earned during fiscal year 2016 and $421,000 was earned during fiscal year 2015. 
 
Beginning in fiscal year 2015, the District has applied and received an allocation from the Low Carbon 
Transit Operations Program (LCTOP). The LCTOP is one of several programs established by the California 
Legislature in 2014 through Senate Bills 862 (SB 862) and 852 (SB 852). The source of funds for LCTOP 
is from the state’s Cap-and-Trade Program annual proceeds and was created to provide operating and capital 
assistance for transit agencies to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and improve mobility, with a priority on 
serving disadvantaged communities.  Eligible projects and programs include new or expanded bus or rail 
services, expanded intermodal transit facilities, equipment acquisition, fueling, maintenance and other 
operating costs.  The District received an allocation of $1,596,000 in fiscal year 2015 and $4,477,000 in 
fiscal year 2016.  The District earned in full the fiscal year 2015 allocation in fiscal year 2016.  The 
allocation for 2016 has been set aside for the procurement of new rail cars and will be earned as revenue 
when capital expenditures are incurred. 
 
The District receives Paratransit funds provided to cities and transit operators from Alameda County 
Transportation Commission (ACTC) Measure B funds to be used for services aimed at improving mobility 
for seniors and persons with disabilities. Beginning in April 2015, the ACTC also allocated to the District 
Measure BB funds to supplement the funding needed for the paratransit program.  Additional Measure BB 
funds were also allocated to the District for transit operations, maintenance and safety programs.  ACTC is 
the administrator of both Measure B and BB funds.  The District’s revenues that relate to the Measure B 
funds were $1,905,000 in fiscal year 2016 ($1,839,000 in fiscal year 2015).  Revenues from Measure BB 
funds for transit operations were $653,000 in fiscal year 2016 ($126,000 in fiscal year 2015), and for 
paratransit operations, were $1,957,000 in fiscal year 2016 ($376,000 in fiscal year 2015).  The District 
also received annual assistance for its paratransit program from the Contra Costa Transportation Authority 
Measure J funds.  Revenues from Measure J funds received in fiscal year 2016 were $79,000 ($69,000 in 
fiscal year 2015).  
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9. State and Local Operating and Capital Financial Assistance (Continued) 
 
On February 28, 2007, the District, San Mateo County Transit District (SamTrans), and MTC entered into 
a Tri-Party Financial Agreement establishing the operational and financial arrangement regarding the 
BART San Francisco International Airport Extension.  To fund the operating costs of the SFO Extension, 
the agreement provided that (1) the District will receive up-front funding of $24,000,000 from MTC and 
$32,000,000 from SamTrans from their shares of Proposition 1B funds; (2) the District will also receive 
2% of the San Mateo County half cent sales tax, Measure A, which was reauthorized by the voters of San 
Mateo County in 2004, for 25 years beginning in fiscal year 2009; this amount is currently equal to 
approximately $1,600,000 per year; and (3) MTC shall allocate to the District additional STA revenue-
based funds beginning in fiscal year 2009, which would otherwise be available for allocation to SamTrans 
as a result of the completion of the Traffic Congestion Relief Program projects, in an amount of $801,000 
annually.  The above funds will be used first to cover any operating deficit on the SFO Extension and then 
to complete SamTrans’ funding commitment of $145,000,000 to the District’s Warm Springs Extension 
Project. In December, 2013 MTC adopted Resolution No. 4123, the Transit Core Capacity Challenge Grant 
Program, which re-directs the $145,000,000 of SFO Net Operating Revenues to BART's New Railcar 
Procurement Program. 
 
The up-front funding of $24,000,000 from MTC was allocated to the District in 2008 in the form of 
Regional Measure 2 (RM2) revenues as local match to capital projects funded by the Transit Capital 
Priorities Program.  For the purpose of the Tri-Party Agreement, the District made up-front deposits 
equivalent to the RM2 revenues in the reserve account, and is currently being reimbursed by MTC with 
RM2 revenues, as the funds are earned. SamTrans' $32,000,000 contribution was funded with 
approximately $22,500,000 in Proposition 1B funds and $9,500,000 in a direct allocation.   
 
As of June 30, 2016 and 2015, the balance of the reserve account is as follows (dollar amounts in 
thousands): 


 


 
In accordance with the Tri-Party Financial Agreement, the District recognized contributions in fiscal year 
2016 of $2,396,000 from SamTrans ($2,421,000 in fiscal year 2015) and $3,539,000 from MTC 
($3,128,000 in fiscal year 2015). 
 
PTMISEA Grants 
The Highway Safety, Traffic Reduction, Air Quality, and Port Security Bond Act of 2006, approved by the 
voters as Proposition 1B on November 7, 2006, includes a program of funding in the amount of $4 billion 
to be deposited in the Public Transportation Modernization, Improvement and Service Enhancement 
Account (PTMISEA). Of this amount, $3.6 billion in the PTMISEA is available to project sponsors in 
California for allocation to eligible public transportation projects. 
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9. State and Local Operating and Capital Financial Assistance (Continued) 
 


The District has cumulatively received a total $299,903,000 in PTMISEA grant funds to fund various 
BART capital projects. The grants received are in the form of cash for $294,388,000 and reimbursement 
grants for $5,515,000.  
 
The following schedules show the changes in activities related to the PTMISEA grant funds during the 
fiscal years 2016 and 2015 (dollar amounts in thousands): 
 


 
1 This grant is on a reimbursement basis. 
2 Covered by interest earnings. 
3 New grants received in fiscal year 2015. 
4 Amount was reallocated from Station Modernization. 
5 New grant of $52,986,000 received in FY 2016, net of $1,098,000 reallocated to eBART Extension, $9,028,000 
reallocated to Balboa Park Eastside and $3,726,000 reallocated to Berkeley Station Entrance. 
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9. State and Local Operating and Capital Financial Assistance (Continued) 
 
As of June 30, 2016 and 2015, the unused portion of PTMISEA grant funds received in cash are shown on 
the statements of net position as a component of unearned revenues as follows (dollar amounts in 
thousands): 


 


 
 


At the end of fiscal year 2016, the PTMISEA funds had earned interest income of $2,094,000 from 
inception, of which $526,000 was earned in fiscal year 2016 and $77,000 in fiscal year 2015. 
 
 


10. Employees’ Retirement Benefits 
 


Plan Description 
All eligible employees participate in the Public Employees’ Retirement Fund (the Fund) of CalPERS under 
the Miscellaneous Plan and the Safety Plan of the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District.  The 
Fund is an agent multiple-employer defined benefit retirement plan that acts as a common investment and 
administrative agent for 3,093 local public agencies and school districts within the State of California.  The 
Fund provides retirement, disability, and death benefits based on the employee’s years of service, age and 
compensation.  Most employees become eligible for benefits after five years of service and 50  years of age 
(age 52 for employees hired after January 1, 2013, see paragraph below).These benefit provisions and all 
other requirements are established by State statute and District contractual agreements. 


 
Pursuant to the California Public Employees' Pension Reform Act of 2013 (PEPRA), new members, defined 
as active members first hired on or after January 1, 2013, or who were hired after a break in service of more 
than six months, are required to contribute 50% of the "normal" pension cost.  That amount is currently 
12% for safety and 6.25% for miscellaneous.  Represented employees were exempt from this provision; 
however, as a result of a court decision, they were determined to be covered effective December 30, 2014.  
There is currently a pending District Court case related to PEPRA's impact on represented employees which 
could alter the applicability of PEPRA to represented employees in the future. 
 
Copies of CalPERS’ annual financial report may be obtained from their Executive Office by writing or 
calling the Plan:  California PERS, P.O. Box 942709, Sacramento, CA 94229-2709, (916) 326-3420.  A 
separate report for the District’s plan is not available. 
 
Benefits Provided  
The District provides service retirement and disability retirements, annual cost of living adjustments and 
death benefits to plan members, who must be public employees and beneficiaries.  Benefits are based on 
years of credited service, equal to one year of full time employment.  Members with five years of total 
service are eligible to retire at age 50 with statutorily reduced benefits.  The death benefit is as follows:  
The Basic Death Benefit for Miscellaneous employees and for Safety employees, it is the 4th level of 1959 
Survivor Benefit. 
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10. Employees’ Retirement Benefits (Continued) 
 
The Plan’s provisions and benefits in effect at June 30, 2016, are summarized as follows: 
 


Miscellaneous Plan                  Safety Plan


Hire date
Prior to          


January 1, 2013
On or After      


January 1, 2013
Prior to          


January 1, 2013
On or After       


January 1, 2013


Benefit formula 2% @ 55 2.0% @ 62 3.0% at 50 2.70% @ 57 


Benefit vesting schedule 5 years 5 years 5 years 5 years 


Benefit payments Monthly for life Monthly for life Monthly for life Monthly for life


Retirement age 55 62 50 57


Monthly benefits, as a percentage 
     of eligible compensation 2.0% 2.0% 3.0% 2.7%


Required employee contribution rates 7.00% 6.25% 9.00% 12.00%


Required employer contribution rates 14.79% 14.79% 51.61% 51.61%


` 
 
At June 30, 2016 and 2015, the following employees were covered by the benefit terms: 
 


Contributions  
Section 20814(c) of the California Public Employees’ Retirement Law requires that the employer 
contribution rates for all public employers be determined on an annual basis by the actuary and shall be 
effective on the July 1 following notice of a change in the rate.  Funding contributions for the Plan is 
determined annually on an actuarial basis as of June 30 by CalPERS.  The actuarially determined rate is the 
estimated amount necessary to finance the costs of benefits earned by employees during the year, with an 
additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability.  The District is required to contribute the 
difference between the actuarially determined rate and the contribution rate of employees. 
 
The average employee contribution rate for the Miscellaneous plan is 6.977% and for the Safety Plan is 
9.021% of their annual covered payroll.  The District was required to contribute for fiscal year 2016 and 
2015 at an actuarially determined rate of 14.79% (13.303% in fiscal year 2015) and 51.61% (47.789% in 
fiscal year 2015) for Miscellaneous and Safety plans, respectively, of annual covered payroll for the 
District’s employees.  Annual covered payroll amounted to $286,188,000 and $265,335,000 for the years 
ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.  The District contributed $50,426,000 and $42,268,000 in 
fiscal year 2016 and fiscal year 2015, respectively. 
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10. Employees’ Retirement Benefits (Continued) 
 
Net Pension Liability 
 


The District net pension liability for the Plan is measured as the total pension liability, less the pension 
plan’s fiduciary net position.  The plan’s net pension liability as of June 30, 2016 and 2015 were measured 
as of June 30, 2015 and 2014 (measurement date), using an annual actuarial valuation of June 30, 2014 and 
2013, respectively.  A summary of principal assumptions and methods used to determine the net pension 
liability is shown below. 
 
Actuarial Assumptions  
The June 30, 2016 and June 30, 2015 total pension liabilities were based on the following actuarial methods 
and assumptions:  
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10. Employees’ Retirement Benefits (Continued) 
 


 
 
The underlying mortality assumptions and other actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2014 and 2013 
valuations were based on the results of a January 2014 actuarial experience study for the period from 1997 
to 2011.  The Experience Study report can be obtained on the CalPERS’ website. 
 
Discount Rate  
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability at June 30, 2016 and 2015 were 7.65% and 
7.50%, respectively.  To determine whether the municipal bond rate should be used in the calculation of a 
discount rate for each plan, CalPERS stress tested plans that would most likely result in a discount rate that 
would be different from the actuarially assumed discount rate.  Based on the testing, none of the tested 
plans run out of assets.  Therefore, the discount rate is adequate and the use of the municipal bond rate 
calculation is not necessary.  The long-term expected discount rate of 7.65% and 7.50% are applied to all 
plans in the Public Employees Retirement Fund.  The stress test results are presented in a detailed report 
called “GASB Crossover Testing Report” that can be obtained at CalPERS’ website under the GASB 68 
section. 
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10. Employees’ Retirement Benefits (Continued) 
 
According to GASB 68, the long-term discount rate should be determined net of pension plan investment 
expense but without reduction for pension plan administrative expense.  Administrative expenses are 
assumed to be 15 basis points.  The discount rate of 7.65% used for the June 30, 2015 measurement date is 
without reduction of pension plan administrative expense.  The discount rate of 7.50% used for the June 
30, 2014 measurement date has resulted in a slightly higher total pension liability and net pension liability.  
CalPERS checked the materiality threshold for the difference in calculation and did not find it to be a 
material difference to the agent multiple-employer plan. 
 
CalPERS is scheduled to review all actuarial assumptions as part of its regular Asset Liability Management 
review cycle that is scheduled to be completed in February 2018.  Any changes to the discount rate will 
require CalPERS Board action and proper stakeholder outreach.  CalPERS will continue to check the 
materiality of the difference in calculation until such time as it changes its methodology. 
 
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block 
method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of 
pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class.  
 
In determining the long-term expected rate of return, CalPERS took into account both short-term and long-
term market return expectations as well as the expected pension fund cash flow.  Such cash flows were 
developed assuming that both members and employers will make their required contributions on time and 
as scheduled in all future years.  Using historical returns of all the funds’ asset classes, expected compound 
returns were calculated over the short term (first 10 years) and the long-term (11-60 years)  using a building 
block approach.  Using the expected nominal returns for both short- term and long term, the present value 
of benefits was calculated for each fund.  The expected rate of return was set by calculating the single 
equivalent expected return that arrived at the same present value of benefits for cash flows as the one 
calculated using both short-term and long-term returns.  The expected rate of return was then set equivalent 
to the single equivalent rate calculated above and rounded down to the nearest one quarter of one percent. 
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10. Employees’ Retirement Benefits (Continued) 
 
The table below reflects the long-term expected real rate of return by asset class.  The rate of return was 
calculated using the capital market assumptions applied to determine the discount rate and asset allocation.  
The target allocation for the June 30, 2015 measurement date was as follows: 
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10. Employees’ Retirement Benefits (Continued) 
 
Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate  
The following presents the net pension liability of the Plan as of the June 30, 2015 measurement date, 
calculated using the discount rate of 7.65%, as well as what the net pension liability would be if it were 
calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage-point lower (6.65%) or 1 percentage-point higher 
(8.65%) than the current rate (dollar amounts in thousands):  


 


 
 


The following presents the net pension liability of the Plan as of the June 30, 2014 measurement date, 
calculated using the discount rate of 7.50%, as well as what the net pension liability would be if it were 
calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage-point lower (6.50%) or 1 percentage-point higher 
(8.50%) than the current rate (dollar amounts in thousands):  


 


 
 
Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position  
Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is available in the separately issued 
CalPERS financial report. 
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10. Employees’ Retirement Benefits (Continued) 
 
Change in Net Pension Liability  
The following table shows the changes in the net pension liability for the year ended June 30, 2016 (dollar 
amounts in thousands): 
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10. Employees’ Retirement Benefits (Continued) 
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10. Employees’ Retirement Benefits (Continued) 
 
The following table shows the changes in the net pension liability for the year ended June 30, 2015 (dollar 
amounts in thousands): 
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10. Employees’ Retirement Benefits (Continued) 
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10. Employees’ Retirement Benefits (Continued) 
 
Pension Expenses and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions  
For the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, the District incurred a pension expense of $30,403,000 and 
$25,781,000, respectively.   At June 30, 2016, the District reported deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources (dollar amounts in thousands): 
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10. Employees’ Retirement Benefits (Continued) 
 
At June 30, 2015, the District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to pensions from the following sources (dollar amounts in thousands): 
 


 
 
The amount reported as deferred outflow of $50,426,000 in fiscal year 2016 and $42,268,000 in fiscal year 
2015, relate to contributions made subsequent to the measurement date.  The District recognized the 
$42,268,000 deferred outflow in fiscal year 2015 as reduction of pension liability in fiscal year 2016.  The 
$50,426,000 deferred outflow in fiscal year 2016 will be recognized as a reduction of net pension liability 
in fiscal year 2017.  
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10. Employees’ Retirement Benefits (Continued) 
 
The deferred inflow of resources related to pensions will be recognized in future pension expense as follows 
(dollar amounts in thousands):  
 


 
Payable to the Pension Plan 


 
At June 30, 2016 and 2015, the District reported a net pension liability of $467,222,000 and $397,465,000, 
respectively.  


 
11. Money Purchase Pension Plan 


 
Most District employees participate in the Money Purchase Pension Plan (MPPP), which is a supplemental 
retirement defined contribution plan.  In January 1981, the District’s employees elected to withdraw from 
the Federal Social Security System (FICA) and established the Money Purchase Pension Plan.  The District 
contributes an amount equal to 6.65% of eligible employees’ annual compensation (up to $29,700 after 
deducting the first $133 paid during each month) up to a maximum annual contribution of $1,868 for all 
employees except those represented by BPOA and BPMA pursuant to their labor agreements effective 
January 1, 2010.  An additional contribution to the MPPP equal to 1.627% of eligible compensation is 
provided to all employees except for represented sworn police officers.  Payment of this additional 
contribution was also suspended for all CalPERS eligible individuals, with various effective dates, pursuant 
to labor agreements and District policy as a cost saving measure.  These payments resumed on July 1, 2013.  
However, under the latest labor agreements with ATU, SEIU, and AFSCME, the District retained 0.0888% 
of the 1.627% contribution.  The District also retained this same amount for non-represented employees.  
In addition, the District retained $37 per month of the 1.627% for ATU, SEIU, and AFSCME employees 
who elected medical to pay for medical premiums.   
 
The annual compensation limit subject to the additional contribution is established by the Internal Revenue 
Code Section 401(a) (17). Each employee’s account is available for distribution upon such employee’s 
termination. 
 
The District’s total expense and funded contribution for this plan for the years ended June 30, 2016 and 
2015 were $9,775,000 and $9,115,000, respectively.  The MPPP assets at June 30, 2016 and 2015 (excluded 
from the accompanying financial statements) per the plan administrator’s unaudited reports were 
$285,801,000 and $288,874,000, respectively.  At June 30, 2016, there were approximately 210 (204 in 
2015) participants receiving payments under this plan. 
 
The plan issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and required 
supplementary information.  This report may be obtained by writing or calling:  BART Investments Plans 
Committee, 300 Lakeside Drive, Oakland, California 94612, (510) 464-6238.
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12. Other Postemployment Benefits 


In addition to the retirement benefits described in Notes 10 and 11, and specified in the District’s contractual 
agreements, the District provides certain other postemployment benefits (“OPEB”) to employees, which 
may include medical benefits to retirees and surviving spouses, retiree life insurance, survivor dental and 
vision benefits, and medical benefits to survivors of active employees.  Most employees who retire directly 
from the District or their surviving spouses are eligible for medical benefits if the employee retires at or 
after age 50 with a minimum of 5 years of service with the District, elects to take an annuity from CalPERS 
and makes a timely election of retiree medical. 


In compliance with GASB requirements, the District accounts for OPEB on an accrual basis and created 
the Retiree Health Benefit Trust. The purpose of establishing the Trust is to facilitate the provision of 
medical benefits and other health and welfare benefits (“retiree medical benefits”) for the qualifying retirees 
of the District; to provide the means for financing the costs and expenses of operating and administering 
such benefits; to hold Trust assets for the sole and exclusive purpose of providing benefits to participants 
and beneficiaries; and to defray the reasonable expenses of administering the Trust and designated plans.  
Assets placed into the Trust cannot be used for any other purposes and are not available to satisfy general 
creditors of the District.  Under California state law, the restrictions on the use of any proceeds from 
liquidation of the Trust are significant enough to render the Trust effectively irrevocable.  The Trust is 
administered by one or more Trustees appointed by the District’s Board of Directors.  Currently, the Board 
has appointed the District’s Controller-Treasurer as the Trustee. The Trust issues a publicly available 
audited financial report that includes financial statements and required supplementary information.  The 
financial report may be obtained by writing to Retiree Health Benefit Trust, San Francisco Bay Area Rapid 
Transit District, 300 Lakeside Drive, P.O. Box 12688, Oakland, California 94604. 


Currently, the Trust covers the funding only for the “retiree medical benefits”, which include retiree medical 
benefits and medical benefits provided to widows and widowers of retirees. It does not fund the “additional 
OPEB” which includes the retiree life insurance premiums or the cost to the District of additional benefits 
available to survivors of employees and retirees who, at the time of hire, elected to contribute to a survivor 
health benefit program.  Survivors of employees and retirees who elected this program and who continue 
to contribute are eligible for medical, dental and vision coverage at a cost of $15/mo.  The District is 
currently in process of establishing a new trust for the additional OPEB.  
 
Basis of Accounting  
The financial statements of the Trust are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting. Beginning with 
fiscal year 2007, the Trust implemented the GASB Statement No. 43, Financial Reporting for 
Postemployment Benefit Plans Other Than Pension Plans, which established the accounting and financial 
reporting standards for plans that provide OPEB. The Trust recognizes contributions from the District in 
accordance with the provisions contained on the District collective bargaining agreements, as described 
briefly in the following discussion.  
 
Method Used to Value Investments   
Investments are reported at fair value as determined by the financial institutions, which have custody of the 
investments based on quoted market prices. 
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12. Other Postemployment Benefits (Continued) 
 
Funding Policy and Long-Term Contract for Contributions   
The District’s current collective bargaining agreements with its unions (CBA) describe the District’s 
funding commitments to the Trust. Beginning fiscal year 2008, the District is funding the Trust with a 
“ramp up” (increasing) percentage of the “full” annual required contribution (ARC) in addition to funding 
the pay-as-you-go amount outside of the Trust every year for the following six years. Including fiscal years 
2007 and 2008, this “ramp-up” contribution funds an eight-year period covering fiscal years 2006 through 
2013. The CBAs include the baseline “ramp-up” percentages, which is the minimum amount that the 
District is committed to contribute to the Trust during the “ramp-up” period. The District shall commission 
an actuarial study of the retiree medical insurance plan liabilities and funding needs, including the ARC, 
every year. The revised “ramp-up” percentage shall be the basis of the District’s contribution to the Trust, 
except when it is less than the baseline “ramp-up” percentage. In addition, in fiscal year 2009 the District 
contributed into the Trust a lump sum make up payment reflecting the amounts it would have contributed 
for fiscal years 2006 and 2007, which was actuarially calculated at $14,629,000. 
 
Beginning in fiscal year 2014, the District contributed to the Trust each pay period an amount equal to the 
full GASB compliant ARC.  Also effective on July 1, 2013, retiree health insurance premiums and related 
administration fees are paid by the Trust. 
 
Funding Policy   
The annual OPEB cost for fiscal year 2016, using the June 30, 2014 actuarial valuation, as a percent of 
covered payroll for the year, are 9.89% (9.10% in fiscal year 2015) for retiree medical benefits and 0.81% 
(0.94% in fiscal year 2015) for additional OPEB, which amounted to $26,974,000 and $1,961,000, 
respectively ($23,646,000 and $2,258,000 in fiscal year 2015). In fiscal year 2016, the District contributed 
cash equivalent to the full annual required contribution to the Trust amounting to $27,145,000 ($23,704,000 
in fiscal year 2015) for the retiree medical benefits and zero (zero in fiscal year 2015) for the additional 
OPEB to partially fund the OPEB cost for the year. The District also paid in fiscal year 2016 life insurance 
premiums, on a pay as you go basis, amounting to $154,000 ($167,000 in fiscal year 2015).  The District 
does not charge any administration cost to the Trust.  Currently, most retirees pay $137.79 per month for 
their share of the medical premium and the balance is paid by the District.  
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12. Other Postemployment Benefits (Continued) 
 
The following tables show the components of the District’s annual OPEB cost, the amount contributed to 
the Trust, pay-as-you-go payments and changes in the net OPEB obligation for fiscal years 2016 and 2015 
(dollar amounts in thousands): 


  


 
 
The total net OPEB obligations of $63,047,000 in fiscal year 2016 and $61,411,000 in fiscal year 2015 are 
shown on the statements of net position as Other post-employment benefits, under noncurrent liabilities. 
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12. Other Postemployment Benefits (Continued) 
 
The three-year trend for the OPEB costs and net OPEB obligation follows (dollar amounts in thousands): 


 


 
 


Funded Status and Funding Progress of the Retiree Medical Plan.  As of June 30, 2016, based on Keenan 
and Associates (Keenan)’s most recent actuarial report, the Retiree Medical Plan is 66.57% funded.  The 
actuarial accrued liability for benefits was $333,141,000, and the actuarial value of assets was $221,766,000 
resulting in an unfunded actuarial accrued liability (UAAL) of $111,375,000.  The covered payroll (annual 
payroll of active miscellaneous and safety employees covered by the plan) was $260,861,000 and the ratio 
of the UAAL to the covered payroll was 42.70%. 
 
The Schedule of Funding Progress, presented as RSI, following the Notes to Financial Statements, presents 
the three-year trend information about whether the actuarial value of the plan assets is increasing or 
decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liability for benefits. 
 
Funded Status and Funding Progress of the Additional OPEB Plan.  As of June 30, 2016, based on 
Keenan’s most recent actuarial report, the Additional OPEB Plan is zero percent funded.  The actuarial 
accrued liability for benefits was $30,659,000, and the actuarial value of assets was zero, resulting in an 
unfunded actuarial accrued liability (UAAL) of $30,659,000.  The covered payroll (annual payroll of active 
miscellaneous and safety employees covered by the plan) was $260,861,000, and the ratio of the UAAL to 
the covered payroll was 11.75%. 
 
The Schedule of Funding Progress, presented as RSI, following the Notes to Financial Statements, presents 
the three-year trend information about whether the actuarial value of the plan assets is increasing or 
decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liability for benefits. 
 
Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions 
about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include assumptions about future 
employment, mortality, and the healthcare cost trend. Actuarially determined amounts are subject to 
continual revision as actual results are compared with past expectations and new estimates are made about 
the future.  
 
Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan in effect and 
include the types of benefits provided at the time of each valuation and the historical pattern of sharing of 
benefit costs between the employer and plan members to that point. The actuarial methods and assumptions 
used include techniques that are designed to reduce the effects of short-term volatility in actuarial accrued 
liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, consistent with the long-term perspective of the calculations.  
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12. Other Postemployment Benefits (Continued) 
 
Actuarial Assumptions and Methods 
The latest OPEB actuarial valuation was performed by Keenan in February 2016 using District data as of 
June 30, 2015.  A summary of principal assumptions and methods used by Keenan to determine the 
District’s annual required contributions to the OPEB plans is shown below: 
 


 
 


13. Board of Directors’ Expenses 


Total Directors’ expenses, consisting of travel and other business related expenses for the years ended June 
30, 2016 and 2015 amounted to $26,000 and $31,000, respectively. 
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14. Related Organizations and Joint Venture Projects 
 


Capitol Corridor Joint Powers Authority 
The Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement dated December 31, 1996, between the District and five other 
transportation authorities in surrounding counties (Agencies) provided for the creation of the Capitol 
Corridor Joint Powers Authority (Capitol Corridor), a public instrumentality of the State of California.  
Capitol Corridor was formed for the purpose of administering and managing the operation of the Capitol 
Corridor Rail Service as part of the California intercity passenger rail system.  The District is the managing 
agency of Capitol Corridor and in that capacity shall provide all necessary administrative support to Capitol 
Corridor.  Capitol Corridor entered into an Interagency Transfer Agreement with the State of California 
and assumed administration and operation commencing on July 1, 1998.  The initial term of the Interagency 
Transfer Agreement was for three years beginning July 1, 1998, and was extended for three additional years 
effective July 1, 2001.  In 2004, State legislation was enacted that eliminated the sunset date of the 
Interagency Transfer Agreement, which now exists indefinitely. 


The governing board of Capitol Corridor consists of six members from the District and two members from 
each of the five other Agencies.  Neither the District nor the other Agencies are responsible for any debt, 
liabilities and obligations of Capitol Corridor and the District would not be entitled to any of Capitol 
Corridor’s net assets should it terminate.  


The District charged Capitol Corridor a total of $3,504,000 for marketing and administrative services during 
2016 and $3,834,000 during 2015.  In addition, Capitol Corridor reimburses the District for its advances 
for capital project expenditures and other operating expenses.  Reimbursements for expenses incurred by 
the District on behalf of and in providing services to Capitol Corridor are netted against the corresponding 
expense in the statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position.   Unreimbursed expenses and 
advances for capital project costs from Capitol Corridor amount to $1,044,000 and $1,034,000 as of 
June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.  All unreimbursed expenses and advances are included as current 
receivables and other assets in the statements of net position.  As the District has no ownership involvement 
or ongoing financial interest or responsibility in Capitol Corridor, its financial statements include only 
amounts related to the services and advances it provides to Capitol Corridor. 


East Bay Paratransit Consortium 
In 1994, the District and the Alameda-Contra Costa Transit District (AC Transit) executed an agreement 
establishing the East Bay Paratransit Consortium (the Consortium).  The purpose of the Consortium is to 
enable the District and AC Transit to jointly provide paratransit services in the overlapping service area of 
the District and AC Transit.  Revenues and expenditures for the Consortium are split 31% and 69% between 
the District and AC Transit, respectively, except the program coordinator’s expenses, which are split 50/50 
starting in 2011. The District’s financial statements reflect its portion of revenues and expenditures as 
operating activities.  The District supported the project primarily through its own operating funds, with 
some financial assistance from Alameda County Measure B and BB funds and from the Contra Costa 
Transportation Authority Measure J funds (Note 9).  The District has no equity interest in the Consortium. 
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14. Related Organizations and Joint Venture Projects (Continued) 
 
Pleasant Hill BART Station Leasing Authority 
In July 2004, the District, the County of Contra Costa (County) and the Contra Costa County 
Redevelopment Agency (Agency) entered into a Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement (JPA Agreement) to 
create the Pleasant Hill BART Station Leasing Authority (Pleasant Hill Authority).  In 2012, the Agency 
was dissolved by California Assembly Bill ABx1 26, and the Pleasant Hill Authority now consists of the 
District and Contra Costa County.  The Pleasant Hill Authority was created as a means of accomplishing 
the cooperation and coordination among the agencies to provide for the development of a mixed-used transit 
village located at BART’s Pleasant Hill/Contra Costa Centre Station, which includes rental residential, 
retail and a future office development. The original lease to the Pleasant Hill Authority was for a 99-year 
term expiring on May 14, 2105.  All subsequent leases will be conterminous with the May 14, 2105 date. 


On June 30, 2009, the District received as ground lease payments for the full term of the lease, a cash base 
rent of $99 and a noncash base rent in the form of a newly constructed parking structure located at the 
Pleasant Hill BART station. The District accepted the completion of the new parking structure and became 
its new owner effective June 30, 2009. The replacement parking garage was recorded as a capital asset at a 
value of $51,236,000, which is its final construction cost as reported by its developer. As a result of the 
Agency’s funding of the replacement parking garage, future sublease revenue will be split between the 
County and BART at 75% and 25%, respectively, after defeasance of Agency’s final incremental 
contribution to the parking garage project.   


The Pleasant Hill Authority is a public entity separate from any member and as such its debts, liabilities 
and obligations shall not be the debts, liabilities and obligations of any of the members. The governing body 
of the Pleasant Hill Authority is a Board of Directors consisting of four persons – two each from the County 
and the District. 


Richmond Redevelopment Agency or Successor Agency 
On April 11, 2002, the District entered into a Disposition and Development Agreement with Richmond 
Redevelopment Agency and Richmond Transit, LLC for the development of a mixed use transit village on 
the property owned by the Redevelopment Agency, the City of Richmond and BART. 


The transit village will be developed in two phases.  The first phase has been completed and consists of the 
development of the townhouses on the western side of the tracks, a parking structure that includes, retail 
space incorporated within the structure (the “Phase One Improvements”).   


The second phase will consist of the development of additional housing and the improvement of Nevin 
Avenue and the Nevin Avenue walkway on the eastern side of the Tracks (the “Phase Two Improvements”). 


The District had agreed to issue grant deeds to the developer pertaining to two parcels with approximate 
total size of 245,070 square feet in both the West side and the East side for the development projects. The 
agreement states that in exchange for the parcels, the Richmond Redevelopment Agency, at their expense, 
will construct a parking structure on the West side of BART’s property, and transfer ownership of the 
garage to the District upon completion.  The transfer of maintenance and responsibility to the District of 
the parking structure, which consisted of 750 parking spaces and approximately 9000 +/- square feet of 
commercial space, occurred in September 2014.  As of June 30, 2016, only the parcel on the West side of 
the development project has been transferred by the District to the developer.  The transfer of the parcel on 
the East side is expected to occur in fiscal year 2017.  
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14. Related Organizations and Joint Venture Projects (Continued) 
 
The District allocated the value of the garage, which amounted to $36,260,000, between the two parcels. 
The total cost of the structure was recorded as part of capital assets.  A gain of $6,012,000 was recognized 
in fiscal year 2015 pertaining to the value allocated to the West side parcel that was transferred to the 
developer, after deducting the cost.  The allocated value pertaining to the East side parcel amounting to 
$30,110,000 was recognized as unearned revenue, pending the transfer, and is shown as part of noncurrent 
unearned revenue. 
 
MacArthur Transit Village 
On July 29, 2010, the District entered into a Purchase and Lease Option agreement with MacArthur Transit 
Community Partners LLC (Developer) pertaining to the development of the MacArthur Transit Village, a 
mixed-use, transit-oriented project, including affordable and market rate housing, retail/commercial and 
community space and replacement parking adjacent to the MacArthur BART Station. 


The District owns a portion of the project’s real property totaling approximately 7.76 acres that is to be 
used to develop the project. 


As a consideration for the purchase of parcels totaling 198,642 square feet and lease of a 34,404 square feet 
parcel, the Developer constructed a parking garage structure, funded in part by the Oakland Redevelopment 
Agency, with 450 parking spaces and 5,200 square feet of retail spaces. The parking structure was 
completed and transferred to the District in September 2014.  In addition to the parking structure, Phase 1 
of the project included a BART Plaza and Transportation Improvements.  These improvements are also the 
responsibility of the Developer as part of the consideration for the land.  The total value of the garage and 
the improvements amounted to $27,596,000 and were recognized as part of depreciable capital assets.  
$1,780,000 of the consideration was allocated to Phase 2 of the project which is for a 99 year term ground 
lease; and was recorded as deferred ground lease.  The remaining $25,816,000 was recognized and reported 
under noncurrent unearned revenue, pending the transfer of the land to the developer. 


Using the City of Oakland Redevelopment Agency funds, the project acquired two parcels under the 
District’s name which were used for the construction of the BART Garage Structure. The total consideration 
paid by the City of Oakland for the two parcels was $5,121,000.  The costs of these parcels were recorded 
by the District as non-depreciable capital assets.  The District also recognized a revenue (donated income) 
equivalent to the value of the land received. 


South Hayward Transit Oriented Development 
On June 18, 2012, the District and JMJ Development LLC (Developer) entered into an Option Agreement 
for a Transit Oriented Development (TOD).  That agreement also includes the right to purchase 
approximately 1.65 acres of land from the District.  The right to purchase was exercised in fiscal year 2014 
for a total consideration of $692,000.  Grant deed for the transfer was issued on October 8, 2014.  The 
District recognized a gain of $620,000 from this sale. 
 
An Option Agreement between the District and the Developer provided further consideration to the District 
of a transfer benefit fee (TBF) which guarantees the District a perpetual revenue stream. The TBF amounts 
to a 1% assessment against successive transfers of each of the development units (i.e. unit sales)  or a 1% 
annual assessment against Gross Annual Rental Revenue from rental of the units.  A total of 206 market 
rate units are expected to be completed by the end of calendar year 2016 with an estimated market value 
exceeding $350,000 per unit.   
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14. Related Organizations and Joint Venture Projects (Continued) 
 
South Hayward BART Station Access Authority 
On September 1, 2011, the District entered into a Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement with the City of 
Hayward which provided for the creation of a public entity known as the South Hayward BART Station 
Access Authority (South Hayward JPA). The purpose of the South Hayward JPA is to manage and 
administer parking and access within the boundaries of the South Hayward JPA in an equitable and orderly 
fashion in order to promote transit-oriented development, support access to the station by District patrons, 
maximize BART ridership and protect the neighborhoods surrounding the South Hayward Station. 
 
The governing board of the South Hayward JPA consists of four members, two each from the governing 
Board of the District and from the City of Hayward, appointed by the governing board of the District and 
the Hayward City Council, respectively.  Neither the District nor the City of Hayward is responsible for 
any debt, liabilities and obligation of the South Hayward JPA. 
 
The parking fees collected by the District for the South Hayward Station are transferred to the South 
Hayward JPA to cover maintenance and other expenses.  Parking fees collected in fiscal year 2016 amounts 
to $516,000 ($356,000 in fiscal year 2015).  The District and the City of Hayward are entitled to 
reimbursement of operating and/or capital expenses incurred for the benefit of the South Hayward JPA.  
Net revenues will be used by the South Hayward JPA to implement parking and access projects in line with 
the objectives set forth in the Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement. 
 


15. Commitments and Contingencies 
 


Litigation 
The District is involved in various lawsuits, claims and disputes, which for the most part are normal to the 
District’s operations.  It is the opinion of the District’s management that the costs that might be incurred in 
the disposition of these matters, if any, would not materially affect the District’s financial position. 


Power Purchases 
The District purchases electrical power for self-consumption at multiple points of delivery such as Traction 
Power, Passenger Station Power and Miscellaneous Power from the Northern California Power Agency 
(NCPA).  Power purchase contracts with the NCPA are in place through December 31, 2016, with a total 
remaining contract value of $8,366,000 as of June 30, 2016. 


Operations and Maintenance Agreement for the Oakland International Airport Connector 
On October 1, 2010, the District entered into an Operations and Maintenance Contract with Doppelmayr 
Cable Car, Inc, to operate and maintain the OAC for an amount not to exceed $4,907,000 (base service 
payment in 2009 dollars) annually for a period of twenty (20) years from revenue service date, subject to 
annual escalation based on Consumer Price Index.  Total operating expenses incurred under this agreement 
amounts to $5,928,000 in fiscal year 2016 ($3,542,000 in fiscal year 2015). As part of the contract, the 
District is also required to deposit to a reserve account, the amount of $768,000 annually, subject to 
escalation, for Capital Asset Replacement Program (CARP).  The CARP will cover all major maintenance 
and rehabilitation expenditures during the term of the Operations and Maintenance agreement.  The OAC 
started revenue operations on November 22, 2014 
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15. Commitments and Contingencies (Continued) 
 
Lease Commitments 
The District leases certain facilities under operating leases with original terms ranging from one to fifty 
years with options to renew. 


Future minimum rental payments under noncancelable operating leases with initial or remaining lease terms 
of over one year at June 30, 2016 are as follows (dollar amounts in thousands): 


 
 


Rent expenses under all operating leases were $8,768,000 and $11,385,000 for the years ended 
June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. 
 
Fruitvale Development Corp. 
On October 1, 2001, the District entered into a ground lease agreement with Fruitvale Development 
Corporation (FDC) pertaining to 1.8 acres of land for the purpose of constructing thereon portions of a 
mixed-use development project commonly known as the Fruitvale Transit Village, which consists of 
approximately 250,000 square feet of commercial, community service and residential improvements.  The 
lease agreement became effective December 9, 2003 and continues through January 31, 2077.  


The terms of the lease require FDC to pay the District a Base Rent and a Percentage Rent.  The Base Rent 
is a fixed amount determined at the inception of the lease subject to periodic CPI adjustments.  Percentage 
Rent is calculated equal to 15% of annual net revenues, as defined in the ground lease agreement. 


The District provided FDC a Rent Credit with an initial amount of $7,247,000, to acknowledge its assistance 
in obtaining grants for the construction of a Replacement BART Commuter Parking Garage near the 
Fruitvale Transit Village.  The initial Rent Credit earned interest on the outstanding balance at simple 
interest based on the prime rate and can only be applied to satisfy the Base Rent. 
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15. Commitments and Contingencies (Continued) 
 
In October 2010, there was a second amendment to the ground lease agreement, which recalculated the 
initial Rent Credit available to FDC as it relates to the replacement parking. The amount of the Replacement 
Parking Rent Credit was revised to $4,642,000, after a payment of $5,500,000 coming from the proceeds 
of the sale of land at the Fruitvale BART Station to the City of Oakland Redevelopment Agency. The 
second amendment also stated that no interest shall accrue on the revised Replacement Parking Rent Credit 
and that beginning on December 1, 2003 and continuing throughout the term of the ground lease, base rent 
shall be subtracted from the Replacement Parking Rent Credit balance, until there is no longer a positive 
Replacement Parking Rent Credit. The offset base rent for fiscal year 2016 and fiscal year 2015 amounted 
to $169,000 each year. The remaining balance in the Replacement Parking Rent Credit was $2,944,000 as 
of June 30, 2016 ($3,113,000 as of June 30, 2015).  
 
Based on the agreement, FDC shall not be under any obligation to make any cash payment to the District 
for base rent at any time that the Replacement Parking Rent Credit still has a positive balance.   
 


16. Subsequent Events 


2016 Series A Sales Tax Revenue Bonds Refunding Bonds (2016A Refunding Bonds) 
In August 2016, the District issued the 2016 Series A Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds with a principal 
amount of $83,800,000 to, along with other District funds, provide sufficient funds to current refund 
$94,450,000 principal amount of the District’s 2006A Refunding Bonds and to fund costs of issuance 
associated with the 2016A Refunding Bonds.  The 2016A Refunding Bonds are special obligations of the 
District, payable from and secured by a pledge of Sales Tax Revenues derived from a transaction and use 
tax levied by the District in Alameda and Contra Costa Counties and the City and County of San Francisco.  
The 2016A Refunding Bonds are issued on a parity with certain other bonds issued by the District and 
currently outstanding.  
 
Passage of Measure RR 
Voters in San Francisco, Alameda and Contra Costa Counties voted on November 8, 2016 to pass Measure 
RR.  The District’s Measure RR authorizes the sale of not to exceed $3.5 billion in general obligation bonds 
to invest in the District’s safety, reliability and traffic relief program, to repair and replace critical 
infrastructure, prevent accidents, breakdowns and delays, relieve overcrowding, reduce traffic congestion 
and pollution, improve earthquake safety and expand safe access into the stations, including access for 
seniors and persons with disability. The system renewal plan would be implemented over the course of 21 
years, from 2017 through 2038. 
 
The bond would be backed by a tax levied on the assessed value of taxable property within the three-county 
BART District (San Francisco, Alameda and Contra Costa counties). 
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DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN 
 
Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios (dollar amounts in thousands) 
(Last 10 years*) 


 
 
*Fiscal year ended June 30, 2015 was the first year of implementation of GASB 68, therefore only two 
years of information is shown. 
.
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Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios (dollar amounts in thousands) 
(Last 10 years*) (Continued) 
 


 
 
Notes to Schedule: 
 
Benefit changes - The figures above do not include any liability impact that may have resulted from plan 
changes which occurred after the measurement dates.  This applies for voluntary benefit changes as well 
as any offers of Two Years Additional Service Credit. 
 
Changes in assumptions – The discount rate was changed from 7.50% (net of administrative expense) in 
2015 to 7.65% in 2016. 
 
*Fiscal year ended June 30, 2015 was the first year of implementation of GASB 68, therefore only two 
years of information is shown. 
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Schedule of Employer Pension Contributions (dollar amounts in thousands) 
(Last 10 years*) 
 


 
 
*Fiscal year ended June 30, 2015 was the first year of implementation of GASB 68, therefore only three 
years of information is shown. 
 
The significant actuarial methods and assumptions used to compute the actuarially determined annual 
required contributions and the funded status based on valuation date of June 30, 2013 follows: 
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Other Postemployment Benefits 
Schedules of Funding Progress 
(dollar amounts in thousands) 


 


 









